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2020 30

FPT
(FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company)

(Ngo Thanh Hai, Chairman of Board of Directors)

B1A TTC
(Floor 9, TTC Building, Lot B1A, Light and small scale industrial

area, Duy Tan Street, Dich Vong Hau Ward, Cau Giay District, Ha Noi,

Vietnam)

03 5843 9631

FPT
(New-S FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund)

32,157

2020 18 UFJ
107.19
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FPT
2013
(FPT Fund Management Joint Stock
2013
Company)
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2008 11
2013 22
2013
2013 22
(MaplesFS Limited) 2013
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15
2010 10 29
(Maples Fund Services (Cayman) 2010 12
Limited) 2013 22 2013
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30
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SBI 049910 5,390,000 49
#15-01

9 Battery Road #15-01 Straits Trading
Building Singapore 049910
FPT 2,750,000 25

FPT FPT

FPT Building Duy Tan Street, Pham
Hung Road, Cau Giay Didtrict, Hanoi,

Vietnam
1,089,000 9.9
47

(47 Ha Trung Street, Hoan Kiem District,

Hanoi, Vietnam)
©)
)

2020
2020
)
1925
50

150
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Nguyen Huy Hoang

Ngo Thanh Huyen

FPT
Tran Minh Khoi
CFA BIDV
Ngo Thanh Hai
SBI FPT
IMC
LotusIMC Fund
Vu Hoai Anh
SSC
18 2008 FPT
(Nguyen Thi Thu Nguyet) CEO
SSC
ANZ
@iv)
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2011 5.89 2012 5.03
2011 23
2013 7.29
8.2
GDP 2013 5.42 2014 5.98 GDP
2014 2013 4.09
2014 2.1
WTO
1990 2005
12,000 3,000 2015
HoSTC 2000
2008 59/2007/QD9-TTg 2007 11
HoSE 2020 383
114.8 HaSTC 2004 2009
01/2009/QD HNX 2020 371
8.9
HoSTC VN 100
12 571 2003 10 130 2004 2005
300 2006 2007
18 1,170 2007 927.02
2008 2008 HoSE
2009 245 2009
HoSE 2009 10 624
2009 11 5.4 8
2011
7.2 2009 10 17,500 2011 20,800 2013 28
21,036
2012
20 2011
HoSE 2011 27
2012 HoSE 2012 413.73 18
2013 2013
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2013 13 WN 497.73
5.73 20 2013
WN 2.43
504.63 HNX 11.3 67.83
GDP
2013 365 2014
WN 25  17.76 609.01
2014 WN
508
WN 633 CPI 1.84
2014 GDP 5.54 5.14
4.5 2014 7.9
2014 1.7 35
2014
WN 2014 12 644.56 513.06 20
GAS PVD
2014 50
2014 1,900
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23 20 27 23
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2016 2016
FED
WN
520
FED
VN 600
VCB  VNM BVH VN 680
HoSE 151 112
EU
WN 2016 664.72 14.8
EU
2017 GDP
2017 GDP 5.10
6.52 2.65
4.17 2.03 5.5
4.1
7.5 2017 2017 FDI
77.6 7.7
6.5 343.7
700 Petrolimex PLX Vietjet Air
Vac
WN HNK 8.65
13.36 4,410 21.72
HSX 2,069 HNX 65
WN HNX 17.37 11.40 HNX WN
12
2017 GDP GPD
6.71 2.65 0.43
5.81 2.0 6.85
2.59 2017 GDP
5.73 CPI 0.17
2.54 2017 4.15 2017
0.1 1.29
2017 20 11.84 14.51
4.92 1.5 36.79 3.33
2017

22,660 22,705

34/219



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

VN 2016 12 664.72 16.8 2017
776.47 2017 2017
PLX VNM GAS BID CTG MBB
2017
2017
2017
381
2017 CPI 2016 3.79
CPI
2017 106.20 106.83 2016 2017 CPI 103.85
2017 2016 100.17 2017
GDP 6.41 5.15
6.28 7.46 2017
5.99 154 19.8 154.5
23.1 19 3.9
13.79 3.3
31.2 10.5 EU 28.4
15.8 41.6
15.6 VN 808 2008
VN 2017 18 808 790-795
23.5
2017 646.1
175.6
2017 GDP 2016 6.81 5.15
6.28 7.46 7.65 6.7
2011 2016
2017 12 CP1 0.21
2.55 3.30 15
CPI 0.13 2017 CPI 3.53
2017 12 CP1 2.6 0.21 12 19.30
3.5 19
2017 12 19.80 2.1
3.5 8.05 1.2 11.75
2017 211.1 20.8
17 84.7 23.4 126.4
VN 2016 48
1,800 VN 970
GDP 70.45 3.53 155 2020 GPD
70 12 3.7 2017 10
22.5 2012
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VNM 11.5 2017 72
2018 GDP 7.38 10
2018
7.38 4.05
0.46 9.07 3.39
6.70 2.75 2018
CP1 2.82 2018 CPI 2017 12 0.97 2.66
2018 CP1
2018 0.09 1.38 2018
1.34 2018 20 FDI
618 2,121.6
25.4 27.3 19.80
38.2 43.3 5.36 2018
35.4 19.0 35.7 7.5
800 2018 1.3
6.3 7.6
2018 VN 1,174
2017 VN 20%
8,000 10,000
HD PV PV
2018
2018 GDP GDP 7.45
2 6.79 7.08 2011
2018 CPI 3.29 2018 CPI 2017 12
2.22 4.67 CPI 0.61 GSO
2018 0.1 1.37 2018
2017 1.35 2018 20 FDI
11,799.8 1,366
15.5 2017 0.3
507 4,434.2 13.8
16,234
4.4 2018 FDI 8.37
2017 8.4 2018 113.93
16 33.07 19.9
FDI 80.86 71 14.5
2018 10 111.22
12.9 46.01 FDI 8.1 65.21

VN 960.78 1.08
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VN 18
GDP 6.88
6.73
3.46
6.87
2017 2011 -2016
2018 CP1 0.72 2017
2018 CPI 3.57 2018
0.14 1.61 2018 20 FDI  14,124.5
2,182 18.3
3 2018 178.91
15.4 64.73 13.9
51.07 17.5 FDI 127.84
71.5 14.6
11.8 16 62.70
VNI 1,000 VNI
1,017 MTD 2.8 VN- VN-
MTD % MTD 4.5% 12 11
GAS 12.3 MTD
GDP 7.08 2008
3.76 8.7 8.85 48.6
7.03 42.7 2018 5,535.3
GDP 58.5 2,587 2017 198
CPI 0.6 2017 3.44
6.51 5.06 4.99
2018 CPI 2017 3.45
2018 12 0.09 1.7
2018 12 20 17,976.2 3,046
17.6 15.5
244.72 13.8 15.9
28.3 12.9 175.52
71.7 2017 0.6b.p 2018 11.5
11.3 94.80
142.71 VN 892.54
2017 9.31 2016 22 522.24
VN 2018 1,204.33 2
1,204.33 VN 26
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6.79 2018
6.8 2019
24 21
12.35
VN
1000
10
2019 3 29 VN 15.3
HNX 1.58 +1.49
6.7-6.8

2019 GDP 6.79 6.82

6.76 6.8
70.1
8.65 6.68
-1.5
6.48
2019
10
G20
2019 6 28 VN

+ 6.43 HNX 0.84 -
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VCB FPT
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10.05
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bps 2019
6.98 6.8
7.11
Fed ECB
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+0.79
1 2019 GDP
FDI
SOE IPO /
GDP 2019
CPI
2019
2018
1,000
VN
2019 VN 7.7
2018 + 10.64 UPCOM
+2.1
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@
Q)
2020 30

IT_- REFRIGERATION ELECTRICAL 146,533 0.69 101,229 1.28 187,574 9.3%
ENGINEERING CORP

2. MILITARY COMMERCIAL 250,005 0.44 110,229 0.68 170,148 8.4%
JOINT STOCK BANK

3. FPT CORP 70,136 0.80 55,874 2.17 152,027 7.5%

4. HOA PHAT GROUP JSC 144,000 0.76 110,159 0.92 132,104 6.6%

5. PHU NHUAN JEWELRY JSC 45,981 0.72 33,216 2.43 111,637 5.5%

6. VIET NAM DAIRY PRODUCTS 80,716 1.52 122,367 1.37 110,211 5.5%
JSC

7. BENTRE AQUAPRODUCT 23,500 5.45 128,107 4.22 99,270 4.9%
IMPORT AND EXPORT JOINT
STOCK COMPANY

8. PETROVIETNAM LOW 68,419 0.83 56,452 1.29 88,166 4.4%
PRESSURE GAS
DISTRIBUTION JSC

9. PETRO VIETNAM SOUTHERN 73,710 0.73 53,833 0.79 58,186 2.9%
GAS

10.  DAT XANH GROUP 88,200 0.87 77,053 0.42 37,220 1.8%

11. BANK FOR FOREIGN TRADE 10,000 1.64 16,377 2.90 29,015 1.4%
JSC

12.  HA DO JSC 20,000 1.53 30,597 1.03 20,695 1.0%
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15.

DABACO CORP

VINGROUP JSC

THU DUC HOUSING
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

EDINETOOOO
OO000oOO00o0DO00o0DOo00oO00obDO000DOo0ooOooO(E27577)
OOooooooooooooooooOo

123 0.80 99 1.18 145 0.0%

7 1.57 11 3.86 27 0.0%

3 0.67 2 0.33 1 0.0%
1,021,333 895,605 1,196,427 59.34%
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(in)
2020 30
SOCIALIST REP OF 2023 30 8.9% 15,000,000,000  820,827.05  812,874.47 40.32%
VIETNAM 8.900%
09/30/23

15,000,000,000  820,827.05  812,874.47 40,32%
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©)
2020
1
( ) « ) ( ) )

2009 12 4,675,889.76 501,209 110.52 11,847

2010 12 3,581,867.84 383,940 90.86 9,739

2011 12 2,116,474.28 226,865 59.72 6,401

2012 12 3,181,090.42 340,981 69.34 7,433

2013 12 3,532,134.06 378,609 81.52 8,738

2014 12 3,418,371.60 366,415 83.90 8,993

2015 12 2,873,345.02 307,994 76.25 8,173

2016 12 2,736,228.41 293,296 74.55 7,991

2017 12 4,466,514.08 478,766 90.42 9,692

10

2018 12 3,128,313.32 335,324 79.71 8,544

11

2019 12 2,537,909.25 272,038 84.52 9,060
2019 31 2,335,943.52 250,390 80.97 8,679
2019 28 2,382,028.26 255,330 80.17 8,593
2019 31 2,419,446.57 259,340 80.86 8,667
2019 30 2,483,905.42 266,250 83.32 8,931
2019 30 2,725,308.84 292,126 85.12 9,124
2019 10 31 2,595,174.48 278,177 84.80 9,090

2019 11 29 2,509,258.58 268,967 82.28 8,820
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2019 12 31 2,537,909.25 272,038 84.52 9,060
2020 31 2,387,283.80 255,893 80.04 8,579
2020 28 2,316,050.31 248,257 77.99 8,360
2020 31 1,819,315.78 195,012 62.65 6,715
2020 29 2,016,164.93 216,113 69.43 7,442
()
2008 10 2009 12 10.52
2010 2010 12 -17.79
2011 2011 12 -34.27
2012 2012 12 16.11
2013 2013 12 17.57
2014 2014 12 2.92
2015 2015 12 -9.12
2016 2016 12 -2.23
2017 2017 12 21.29
10 2018 2018 12 -11.84
11 2019 2019 12 6.03
* (%) = 100 x (b-a)/a
a:

100
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)
45,038 2,732 42,306
2009 12 45,038 2,732 42,306
1,923 4,809 39,420
2010 12 (1,923) (4,809) (39,420)
230 4,211 35,439
(2011 12 ) (230) (4,211) (35,439)
12,303 1,866 45,876
(2012 12 ) 12,303 (1,866) (45,876)
0 2,549 43,327
2013 12 0 2,549 (43,327)
883 3,470 40,740
2014 12 (883) (3,470) (40,740)
0 3,060 37,680
2015 12 ) (3,060) (37,680)
1,100 2,079 36,701
2016 12 (1,100) (2,079) (36,701)
19,823 7,125 49,399
2017 12 (19,823) (7,125) (49,399)
10 2,991 13,147 39,243
2018 12 (2,991) (13,147) (39,243)
11 4,702 13,919 30,026
2019 12 (4,702) (13,919) (30,026)
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(BRI 1 o ()
o (2008¢ 10M300 RIE) ~20204£455) 2.000.000
PRSI O 1) sy

120 e e s e s e e e e e e e e e o] 6,000,000
100 5,000,000
80 { 4,000,000

3,000,000
40 { 2,000,000
20 1,000,000

0 0
20084 20094 20104 20118 20126 201 36 20148 20158 20168 20174 20184 20194
10A% 10A% 10A% 10A% 10FA% 10A% 10Ax 10A% 10A% 10A% 10A%

(2020448 29 BRTE)
R T RS
CO.34%

40.32%

0.34%
100.00%
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(1) gt 202055473 30 IR (B4 AL

1 | REFRIGERATION ELECTRACAL ENGINEERING CORF AL | MEER | 146533069 (101229 128 | 1.5  03%
7 | MIUTARY COMMERCIAL JOINT STOCK BANK ATl | RiTR 250,005 | 044 | 110229 | 088 | 170,148 | B4R
3 | FFT CORP Aprh | REABR | 7013 080 S5EFE| 117 15L0F| TSR
& | HOW PHAT GROUP 50 Al | FORREN | 144,000 | 076 | 110,159 | 052 | 13LI04|  GE%
5 | PHU NHUAN JEWELRY 550 AL | R 45001|072 | 33216(243 | MEF| 55%
6 |VIET &M DAIRY PRODUCTS 5 AprL | B 80,716 | 152 | 122367 [ 137 | 110211 55%
7 | BENTRE AGUAPRODUICT IMPORT AND EXPORT JOMT STOCK, CONMPANY | ~0hL | BN 23,500 545 | 120007 (422 | 99170 AW
& | PETROAIETNAM LOW PRESSUIRE GAS DETREUTION SC At | AR 68,410 (083 | 56452 (120| BS166| 44%
§ | PETRO VIETNAM SOUTHERN GAS Aprh |G -0AN | 7ATI0 073 S3AA3|079( Shis| 19%
10 | DAT XANH GROUP AprL | TRER | 58200087 | TRNS3|042| TIM| 18%

() 3 2020 #2418 30 BIRE (B4 : HEIL)

mae | BLE

SOOALSTREP OF VIETNAM §300% AptL | BW | 0m%ems0a | agw

RO
(%)

30

21.29%

P11 PO ] - S ———

10.52%
10 - -----~--==-"=-===-=- et 6.03%

0

—2.23%

N Ty ) Te—— R — R

—20 p----1779% S

T ) P — e S i o £ i o R R o R R R R o i R

—34.37%

B R S B s

" EE¥ %)= 100 x (ba)/a
iy
a SEEBRIENCED OS5 VRS (R 1 BRER D0 TR SENTES (100X EL ETS)
b LA 00 1 0S5 RREines

FryHOERERTY L FTARORETE Y. ROl ARRENRT SB0TREL,
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3.00

MFA

PDF
MFA

MFA MFA
PDF

10 MFA

MFA

10 MFA
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1,000 3.00
1,000 10,000 2.50
10,000 50,000 2.00
50,000 100,000 1.50
100,000 1.00
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(

(

10

)

)

25

MFA
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10
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10

10

25
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@

(b)
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(e) Dau Tu Chung
Khoan

€Y

(b)

©

(D

O]

®

@
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(H

IFRS IFRS

IFRS
IFRS
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FPT

2019 2018 12 31

131

KPMG Cayman Islands

2020 18
UFJ 1 107.19
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@
FPT FPT
2019 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
11 136,747 14,658 279,725 29,984
12 2,485,103 266,378 2,914,988 312,458
8,447 905 - -
2,503 268 4,084 438
4,878 523 4,878 523
2,637,678 282,733 3,203,675 343,402
18 8,163 875 10,483 1,124
13 48,146 5,161 - B}
14 43,460 4,658 64,879 6,954
99,769 10,694 75,362 8,078
2,537,909 272,038 3,128,313 335,324
2,537,909 272,038 3,128,313 335,324
30,026 2018 39,243
15 84.52 9,060 79.72 8,545
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&)
FPT
FPT
2019 12 31

2019 2018

111,218 11,921 - -
62,851 6,737 84,713 9,080

122,962 13,180 403,150 43,214

111,401 11,941  (584,088)  (62,608)
3,394 364 (6,449) (691)

411,826 44,144  (102,674)  (11,006)

18 (33,643)  (3,606) (47,547) (5,097)
(14,431)  (1,547) (15,551) (1,667)
(30,865)  (3,308) (30,282) (3,246)

18 (60,000)  (6,431) (60,000) (6,431)

18 (6,883) (738) (18,646) (1,999)

18 (8,257) (885) (22,375) (2,398)
(13,130)  (1,407) (21,570) (2,312)

(9,808)  (1,051) (11,042) (1,184)

17 (30,534)  (3,273) (26,523) (2,843)

(207,551)  (22,247)  (253,536)  (27,177)

204,275 21,896  (356,210)  (38,182)
16 (5,103) (547) (2,815) (302)

199,172 21,349  (359,025)  (38,484)
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FPT
FPT
2019 12 31

2019 2018
3,128,313 335,324 4,466,514 478,766
199,172 21,349 (359,025)  (38,484)
390,154 41,821 260,162 27,887
(1,179,730)  (126,455)  (1,239,338) (132,845)
(789,576) (84,635) (979,176)  (104,958)

12 31 2,537,909 272,038 3,128,313 335,324
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2019 2018
199,172 21,349 (359,025) (38,484)
(122,962)  (13,180) (403, 150) (43,214)
(111,401)  (11,941) 584,088 62,608
1,581 169 10,281 1,102
(2,320) (249) (1,932) 07)
(21,419) (2,296) (17,831) (1,911)
(882,350)  (94,579) (70,588) (7,566)
1,546,598 165,780 1,260,762 135,141
606,899 65,054 1,002,605 107,469
381,707 40,915 260,162 27,887
(1,131,584)  (121,294)  (1,239,338)  (132,845)
(749,877)  (80,379) (979,176)  (104,958)
(142,978)  (15.326) 23,429 2,511
279,725 29,984 256,296 27,472
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136,747 14,658 279,725 29,984

64,432 6,906 94,994 10,182
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FPT
FPT
2019 12 31
FPT
2008 9 11
FPT
2008 11 11 2008
10 30
2019 2018 12 31
@
FS
(b)
FPT
2013
FPT
2013 22
FPT

©
@
O

U)
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15

@

n 70
n 10

n 30

1ASB IFRS

2020 29

@
(i)

2019

IFRS 16
IFRS 16 IFRIC SIC 15
SIC 27
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IAS 17 IFRS
16

2019 1 1

@

()

©

@

©)

U)

50
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2013 11 29

GIIN C21XBY.99999.5L.136

FATCA
2010 18 2010
A
FATCA
2013
FFI
FATCA FFI
FFI
US FATCA
FATCA
FFI US FATCA
@
)
@

)
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2020

)

(®)

73/219



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

©

2019 2018 12 31

2019 12 31
A3

2018 12 31
A3

2019 2018 12 31

2019 12 31
Ba3 826,977

2018 12 31
Ba3 857,748

©)

2019 12 31 2018 12 31

)
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31

857,748

(ii)

2019

31

)
2019

2019

25

12 31
12
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12
2019 12 31
8,270 2018 12
4,486
2019 12 31 826,977 2018 12 31
2018 12 31
2018 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
2,566,545 3,123,960
(2,674) (1,939)
2,563,871 3,122,021
2019 12
25,639 2018 12 31 31,220
11
2018 12 31
1,658,126 2018 12 31 2,057,240
2019 N 25 2018
2019 12 31 25 2018 12 31 25

75/219

414,532 2018



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

514,310 25 2018 25
10
( )
@ -
2019 2018 12 31
2019 12 31
1,658,126 - 1,658,126
- 826,977 826,977
1,658,126 826,977 2,485,103

2018 12 31
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11

2019 12 31
2018 12 31
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2,057,240 - 2,057,240
- 857,748 857,748

2,057,240 857,748 2,914,988

136,747
8,447
2,503

147,697

8,163
48,146
43,460
99,769

279,725
4,084
283,809

10,483
64,879
75,362

2019 12 31 2018 12 31

136,747 279,725

57,808
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12
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
936,588 1,658,126 1,381,383 2,057,240
@) 820,827 826,977 917,318 857,748
1,757,415 2,485,103 2,298,701 2,914,988
(*2019 12 31 14,638 2018 12 31 26,308
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
Phu Nhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company 244,859 234,851
Refrigeration Electrical Engineering Corporation 229,531 194,451
Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank 224,394 193,986
FPT Corporation 176,445 115,927
Petrovietnam Low Pressure Gas Distribution Joint Stock
155,592 111,133
Company
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 150,816 248,169
Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company 130,815 202,689
Bentre Aquaproduct Import and Export Joint Stock
125,389 139,801
Company
Petrovietnam Southern Gas Joint Stock Company 100,137 106,318
Dat Xanh Group 55,187 61,525
Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign Trade of
38,923 69,151
Vietnam
Ha Do Joint Stock Company 25,890 -
Dabaco Group Joint Stock Company 112 110
Vingroup Joint Stock Company 35 29
Thu Duc Housing Development Corporation 1 1
Petrovietnam Technical Services Corporation - 35,109
Vietnam Construction & Import-Export Corporation - 194,744
Petrovietnam Gas Joint Stock Corporation - 149,246
1,658,126 2,057,240
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18
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15
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
276,205 387,970
263,317 263,137
255,728 401,806
244,859 234,851
229,531 194,451
176,445 115,927
130,815 202,689

81,114 61,555

112 110

- 194,744

1,658,126 2,057,240
2019 12 31 2018 12 31

826,977 -

- 857,748
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
17,750 14,500
7,000 7,000
4,000 4,000
3,704 5,049
3,245 19,060
3,088 4,208
2,000 2,000
1,941 1,939
732 7,123
43,460 64,879
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2019 2018 12 31
2019 2018
39,243 49,399
4,702 2,991
(13,919) (13,147)
12 31 30,026 39,243
2019 2018 12 31
3.00
10
10
(
)
25
(
)
16
17
2019 2018

AMLCO/MLRO 8,000 2,000
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7,000 7,000
4,878 4,878
FATCA 4,000 4,000
3,590 4,463
3,066 4,182
30,534 26,523
18
@
O) -
2019 2018
60,000 60,000
17 7,000 7,000
FATCA 17 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO 17 8,000 2,000
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
14 17,750 14,500
14 7,000 7,000
FATCA 14 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO 14 2,000 2,000
5,000
7,000
(ii) FPT
1.275
2019 12 31
33,643 2018 47,547 2019 12 31 8,163 2018

10,483

20
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100
2019 12 31 2018
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®
2019 2018
6,883 18,646
8,257 22,375
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
14 3,088 4,208
14 3,704 5,049
0.5
0.6
19
2019 12 31
2020 29
1,955,063.98

2019 12 31

83/219



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MNew-5S FPT Capital Trust Vieinam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust)
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Maote 31z2019 3122018

USD USD

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents ] 136,747 279,725
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 2,485,103 2,914 988
Subscriptions receivable E.447 =
Dividends receivable 2,503 4,084
Prepaid expenses 4,878 4,878
Total assets 2,637,678 3,203,675
LIABILITIES

Management fee payable I8 B, 163 10,483
Redemptions pavable 13 48,146 -
Accrued expenses 14 43,460 64,879
Total liabilities 99,769 75,362
EQUITY

Met assets attributable to unitholders 2,537,909 3,128,313
Total equity 2,537,909 3,128,313
Met asset valoe per wnit based on 30,026 units 15 84.52 70.72

(201%: 39,243 units)

The accompanying noles are an r'.ruegra!part af these financial statemenis
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Yietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trost of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2019 2018
Note USD USD

Interest income 111,218 -
Dividend income 62,851 84,713
Met realised gain on financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 122,962 403,150
Met change in unrealised gainiloss) on financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss 111,401 (584 0B8)
Met foreign currency exchange gain/(loss) 31,394 (6,449
Total revenue/(loss) 411,826 (102,674)
Management fee 18 (33.643) (47,547)
Custody fee (14,431) (15,551)
Legal fee (30,865) (30,282)
Administration fee 18 (60,000) (60,000)
Agent member company fee 18 (6,883) (18.646)
Distributor fec 18 (8,257 (22,375
Audit fee (13,130) (21,570}
Professional fee (9, 808) (11,042)
Other operating expenses 17 (30,534) (26,523)
Total aperating expenses (207,551) (253,536)
Operating profit/{loss) 204,275 (356,210)
Withholding tax expense 16 (5,103) (2,815)
Profit/{loss) for the year 199,172 (359,025)

The aecompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust)

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2018
UsD

4,466,514

(359,025)

260,162
{1,239,138)

(979,176)

2019
UsD
Balance at 1 January 3,128,313
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit/{lnss) for the vear 199,172
Transactions with owners, recognised directly in
equity
Contributions and redemptions by unitholders;
Issue of units during the year 390,154
Redemption of units during the year (1,179.730)
Total transactions with owners (T89,576)
Balance at 31 December 2,537,909

3,128,313

The accomparnying noles are an infegral part of these financial statemenis
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)

Statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2019
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit{loss) for the year
Adjustments to reconcile (loss)profit for the year to net cash
provided by/{used in) operating activities:
Met realised gain on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Met change in unrealised (gain)/loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Decrease in dividends receivable
Decrease in management fee payable
Decrease in accrued expenses
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from sale of financial assets al fair value through
profit or loss

Net eash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of units

Payments on redemption of units

Met cash used in by financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at | January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Supplementary information on cash flows from
operating activities include:

Dividend received

2019 2018
UsD USD
199,172 (359,025}
(122,962)  (403,150)
(111,401) 584,088
1,581 10,281
(2,320) (1,932)
(21,419) (17.831)
(882,350) (70,588)
1,546,508 1,260,762
606,899 1,002,605
381,707 260,162

(1,131,584)  (1,239,338)

(T49,877) (979,176)

(142,978) 23,429
279,725 256,296
136,747 279,725

64,432 94,994

The accompanying notes are an integral pari of these financial statemenis
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

1. Reporting entity

New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (formerly known as “New-5 Finansa Vietnam
Balanced Fund™) (“the Fund™) is a series trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust (formerly known as
“Wew-5 Finansa Trust”™) (“the Trust™) established pursuant to a trust deed dated 11 September
2008. The Trust is an umbrella unit trust and registered as a mutual fund under the Mutual Funds
Law of the Cayman Islands on 11 MNovember 2008, The Fund commenced operations on 30
October 2008, The Fund is registered with the Financial Services Agency of Japan.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Fund had no employees.
{a) Trustee

The Fund's trustee is MaplesFS Limited (the *Trustee™) which is domiciled in the Cayman [slands.
The Trustes is licensed to carry on trust business pursuant to the provision of the Banks and Trust
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is a licensed administrator of mutual funds under the
Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman [slands.

(b} Manager

The investment activities of the Fund are managed by FPT Fund Management Joint Stock
Company (the “Manager™). In 2013, the Manager was changed from Finansa Fund Management

Lid. o FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company, an investmen! management company
incorporated in Vietnam in accordance with the Deed of Retirement and Appointment signed

between the Trustee, Finansa Fund Management Ltd, (the previous manager) and FPT Fund
Management Joint Stock Company (the new manager) dated 22 April 2013,

(e} Administrator
The Fund's administrator is Maples Fund Scrvices (Cayman) Limited (“the Administrator™), a
licensed mutual fund administrator, headquartered in the Cayman lslands, a duly appointed
delegate of the Trustee, The Administrator has delegated certain administration duties to Maples
Fund Services (Asia) Limited which is based in Hong Kong.

(d) Custodian
The Fund’s custodian is Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch.

{e) Distributor and Agent Member Company
The Distributor and Agent Member Company is New-8 Securities Co., Lid., a company domiciled
in Japan. Under the signed Agent Company Agreement, Units Distribution and Repurchase

Agreement, New-S Securities Co., Lid. provides agent company member service and sales and
repurchases of units handling services.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Scries Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Investment objectives of the Fund

The Fund's investment objective is to provide unitholders with capital appreciation through
investments in the following securities:

*  Debt securities issued by the Government and public organisations in Vietnam, deposits
{including money market products with high ereditability and cash) with Vietnamese financial
institutions, which are assessed to be high creditworthiness;

=  Equity securities such as shares, convertible bonds, warrants and bonds with warrant and debt
securitics issued by companies listed on the Vietnamese Stock Exchanges;

= Mutual funds listed on the Vietnamese Stock Exchanges;

*  Equity securities such as shares, convertible bonds, warrants and bonds with warrani and debt
securities issued by companies which are contemplating a listing on the Vietnamese Stock
Exchanges (provided that investments in unlisted shares are limited to 15% of the Fund®s net
assets); and

=  Equity securities such as shares, convertible bonds, warrants and bonds with warrant and debt
securities issued by companies listed on sécuritics exchanges other than the Vistnamese Stock
Exchanges if a substantial part of the assets of such companies or their sales are situated in or
derived from Vietnam.

Investment restrictions of the Fund

The Manager is subject to the following investment restrictions:

*  The Fund shall not acquire the shares of any company if, as a result of such acquisition, the
total number of shares of such company held by the Fund would exceed 25% of the total
number of issued and outsianding shares of such company.

*  The Fund shall not acquire any investment which is not listed on an exchange or which is not
readily realisable if, as a result thereol, the total value of all such investments held by the
Fund would immediately following such acquisition excead 15% of the value of its net assets.

*  The Fund shall not acquire any equity interests of Vietnam shares, il as a result thereof, the
total value of all such investments held by the Fund would immediately following such
acquisition exceed T0% of the value of its net assets.

*  The Fund shall not acquire or hold any investment in a single company in excess of 10% (or
5% in the case of an unlisted company) of the value of the net assets of the Fund.

®=  The Fund shall nol acquire or hold any investiment in a single sector in excess of 30% of the
value of the net assets of the Fund.

= The Fund shall not acquire or hold any investment in ather listed mutual funds in excess of
10% of the value of the net assets of the Fund,

*  The Fund shall not make a short sale of or buy a security on margin.

llowever, with regards to the ceiling ratio of above Fund's assets amount, the appreciation or
depreciation of market value may temporarily exceed such ratio.
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Mew-S FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Basis of preparation

These financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASH),

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustee on 29 April 2020,

Details of the Fund's significant accounting policies are included in Note 6.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD™), which is the Fund’s
functional currency.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis using the historical cost basis,
except for investments in securities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which are measured at fair value. The methods used to measure fair value are described in Note

&g iii).

The statement of cash flows iz prepared using the indirect method.

New standards adopted as at 1 January 2019

The Fund has adopted the new accounting pronouncements which have become effcctive this year,
amd are as follows:

IFRS 16 ‘Leases

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ replaces TAS 17 ‘Leases’ along with three Interpretations (IFRIC 4 ‘Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease', SIC 15 ‘Operating Leases-Incentives” and SIC 27
‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease’). The new
Standard has been applied using the modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of
adopting [FRS 16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been restated.

(ther pronouncements

Other accounting pronouncements which have become effective from | January 2019 and have
thenefore been adopted do not have a significant impact on the Fund's financial results or position,
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital T rusi)
Muotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

6.  Significant accounting policies

The Fund has consistently applied the aceounting policies to all periods presented in these financial
slatemenis.

(a) Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into USD at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions,

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into USD at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monctary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are also translated into USD at the exchange rate at the

reporting date.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign
currency exchange gain or loss except those arising on investments at fair value through profit or
loss which are included on net change in unrealised gain or loss on fair value through profit or loss
and net realised gain or loss on fair value through profit or loss.

(b)  Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the right to receive payment is
established. For quoted eguity securitics, this is usually the ex-dividend date, Dividend income
from equily securities designated as al fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or
loss in a separate line item, gross of any withholding tax.

(c) Interest income

Interest income from debt securities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in profit or loss as part of gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

Interest income is determined using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts, without consideration of future credit
losses, over the expected life of the financial instruments or through to the next market based
repricing date to the net carrying amount of the financial instruments on initial recogniticon.

i) Gains and losses from investments al fair value through profit or loss
Realised gains and losses on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
calculated using the weighted average method and unrealised gains and losses on investments at
fair value through profit or loss includes unrealised fair value changes. Gains and losses on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are included in the statement of comprehensive
income.

(e} Fees and commission expenses

Fees and commission expenses are recognised in profit or loss as the related services are
performed.
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
MNaotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

(n Tax

Under the current system of taxation in the Cayman Islands, the Trust is exempt from paying
income taxes. The Trust has received an undertaking from the Gowvernor in Cabinet in the Cayman
Islands exempting it from all income, profits and capital taxes for a period of 50 years from the
creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included in these financial
statements.

However, interest income on Vietnamese Government bonds received by the Fund is subject to
withholding tax. Income that is subject to such tax is recognised gross of the taxes and the
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as withholding lax expense.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA")

On 18 March 2010, the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010 added chapter 4 1o
Subtitle A ("Chapter 4) of the US Internal Revenue Code (the "Code™). The provisions in Chapter
4 are commonly referred 1o as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA™). US Treasury
regulations providing guidance on the due diligence, reporting, and withholding obligations under
FATCA were passed and came into effect in January 2013 (the "Regulations").

The Regulations require foreign financial institutions ("FFI") to provide the Internal Revenue
Service ("IRS") with information on cerfain U.S. persons invested in accounts outside of the LS,
and for certain non U.S. entities to provide information about any U.S. owners. The obligations of
an FFI under FATCA may be modified by an Intergovernmental Agreement ("[GA") between the
US and the FFI's country of organisation. The Cayman Islands entered into a Model 1 IGA on 29
MNovember 2013, which provides for reporting and enforcement by FFls to be facilitated by local
authorities. The Cayman lslands also entered into a similar IGA with the United Kingdom.
Therefore, all Cayman Islands domiciled "financial institutions" are subject to domestic legislation
and regulations that implement both the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("US FATCA") and
its UK equivalent ("UK FATCA" and together, "FATCA"). The due diligence and reporting
regimes introduced by the domestic legislation and regulations apply to all such financial
institutions irrespective of whether they have US or UK based account holders and/or have LS or
LUK assets or source income,

The Fund is a Reporting FFI and has registered for a Global Intermediary Identification Number
(“GIIMN") as required under US FATCA. The Fund's registered GIIN is C2IXBY.99999 5L..136.

() Financial assets and financial labilities

i) Recognition
The Fund initially recognises financial assets at fair value through profit or loss on the trade date,
which is the date on which the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the date on which they
are originated.

fii) Classification
In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held,

the Fund considers all the relevant information about how the business is managed. The Fund
determined that it has two business models.
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund {a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the yvear ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents and dividends receivables.
These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

Chher business model: this includes debt securities and equity securities. These financial asscis are
managed and their performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place,

Bascd on above assessment of business model, the Fund classifics its financial assets and liabilities
into the below categories.

Financial assers ot fair value through prafit or loss; The Fund classifies all debt and equity
insiruments at fair value through profit or loss because it manages these instruments on a fair value
basis in accordance with its documented investment strategy. The Fund holds all investments for
trading purposes and the financial assets are classified as part of Orher business model. Internal
reporting and performance measurement of these securities are on a fair value basis.

Financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost: The amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured on
initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using
the effective interest rate method of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the
maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

Financial assets at amortised cost includes cash and cash equivalents, subscriptions receivable and
dividends receivable.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost includes management fee payable and accrued expenses.,

(i)  Meavurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at cost which is the fair value of the
consideration given or received.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair valoe on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilitics at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at cost and subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, except for redecmable shares,
which is measured at the redemplion amount.

{iv)  Impairment

The introduction of IFRS 9 replaces the model used to calculate impairments under IAS 39, which
was based primarily on incurred losses, with a model based on the expected credit losses. The
scope of the new model consistently includes all financial assets that are recognised at amortised
cosL.
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Truost)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 (continuwed)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

The Fund assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The Fund recognises a loss allowance for such losses at
each reporting date.

The measurement of expected credit losses reflects:

*  An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

#  The time value of money; and

*  Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
eonditions.

Derecopnition

The Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or
the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset that is derecognised} and the consideration
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created
or retained by the Fund is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expired.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the staterment of
financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal right to offset the amounts and it
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the hability simultaneously,

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for realised pains and losses and unrealised gains
and losses on investments at fair value through profit or loss and foreign exchange gains and losses.

Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash at bank, term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less, and shori-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible 0 known
amounts of cash and subject 1o an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Redeemahle units

The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in
accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments,
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

The Fund has one class of redeemable unils in ssue, This is the most subordinate class of financial
instruments in the Fund. The redeemable units provide unitholders with the right to require
redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the unithalders’ share in the Fund's net assets at
each redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s liquidation.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the issuer 1o repurchase or
redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity instrument if it
meets the following conditions;

e i eniiiles the holder to a pro rata share of the entity"s net asseis in the event of the Fund's
liquidation;
® it isin the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

s all finaneial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of
instruments have identical features;

#  apart from the contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for
cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would
require classification as a liability; and

# the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are hased substantially
on profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the
recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument,

The Fund's redeemable units meet all of these conditions and are classified as equity.

Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020 and
earlier application is permitted; however, the Fund has not early applied these new or amended
standards in preparing these financial statements.

OF those standards that are not yet effective, there are no new standards which are expected to have
a significant impact to the Fund’s. financial position or performance.

Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these financial statoments, management has made judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognised prospectively,
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued )
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

Judgements
Determination of functional currency

“Function currency” is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Fund
operates. If indicators of the primary economic environment are mixed, management uses its
judgement to determine the funclional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The Fund's investment portfolio are
denominated in VND and other transactions are mainly denominated in USD. Investor
subscriptions and redemptions are determined based on net asset value, and received and paid in
USD. The expenses (including management fee and administration fee) are denominated and paid
in USD. Accordingly, management has determined that the functional currency of the Fund is
LISD.

9.  Financial risk management

{a) Exposure

The Fund has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:

®  credit risk;
*  liquidity risk: and
= markel risks.

This note presents information about the Fund's objectives, policies and processes for measuring
and managing risk, and the Fund’s management of capital.

(b} Risk management framework

The Fund maintains positions in a variety of non-derivative financial instruments in accordance
with its imvestment management strategy as mentioned in Note 1. The Fund's invesiment portfolio
comprise listed equity and debt securities.

Investing activities of the Fund expose it 1o various types of risks that are associated with the
financial instruments and markets in which it invest. The Fund manages these risks on an aggrepate
basis along with the risks associsted with its investing activities as part of its overall risk
management policies. The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding af the dates of
the statement of the financial position and the risk management policies employed by the Fund are
disclosed below.

(e}  Credil risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterpariy to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Fund, resulting in a financial loss 1o the
Fund. It arises principally from debt securities held and cash and cash equivalents. For risk

management reporling purposes, the Fund considers and aggregates all elements of credit risk
exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country risk and sector risk).
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MNew=5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes (o the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Fund had a significant portion of its individual counterparty
eredit risk with the Custodian. The Fund seeks to mitigate its exposure to credit and counterparty
risk by placing its cash and transacting its securities with reputable financial institutions. The Fund
does not expect any losses as a result of this concentration. The Fund®s maximum credit risk
exposure at the reporting date is represented by the respective carmrying amounts of the relevant
financial assets in the statement of financial position. Credit rating of the Custodian referenced to
Moody"s long term deposit rating were as follows:

Credit rating
Custodian
31 December 2019
Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch A3
31 December 2018
Deutsche Bank ACG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch Al

Management monitors the credit rating of its debt secunities on a continuwous basis, As at 31
Decembser 2019 and 2018, the fair value of the Fund's debt securities referenced to Moody's rating

were as follows:
Credit rafing Fair value
UsD
31 December 2019
Vietnam Government bond Bal 826,977
31 December 2018
Vietnam Government bond Bal 857,748

(dy  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilitics that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Fund's Offering Memorandum provides for redemption of the units on the second business day
in each calendar week. The Fund’s financial instruments include investments which are actively
traded in Vietnamese Stock Exchanges. As a& result, the Fund is able to liquidate quickly its
investments in these instruments at an amounl close to the fair value in order to meet its liquidity
requirements. Accordingly, management considers the Fund's liquidity risk to be minimal.

Financial liabilities of the Fund as at 31 December 2019 are payable within three months
(31/12/201 8: three months).

(e}  Market risk
Markat risk is the risk that changes in market prices — such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates,

equity prices and credit spreads — will affect the Fund's income or the fair value of its holdings of
financial instruments.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Scries Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 {continued )
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Frterest rate risk

The Fund is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of its financial instruments
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. In respect of the Fund's interest bearing
financial instruments, the Fund’s policy is to transact in financial instruments that mature or re-
price in the short term = i.e. no longer than 12 months.

Accordingly, the Fund is subject to limited exposure to fair value or cash flow interest rate risk due
to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates.

The fair value of the debi securities in which the Fund invests are sensitive to changes in interest
rates and market conditions within Vietnam. As a result, the Fund is subiect to fair value interest
rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. As at 31 December
2019, had interest rate increased by 1% with all other variables remaining constant, the decrease in
net assets and increase in loss for the year would amount to approximately USDE,270 (31/1272018:
increase in loss for the year would amount to approximately USD4,486). A decline of 1% would
have an equal but opposite impact.

The Fund's interest-bearing instruments, being debt seccurities with carrying value as at 31
December 2019 of USDE26,.977 (31/12/2018: USDE57,748) have a maturity of four years and two
months (31/12/2018: two years and three months).

Cuerrenicy risk

The Fund inwests in assets and eamns income denominated in Vietnamese Dong (“VND™).
Consequently, the Fund is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of USD relative to VIND may
change in a manner which may have an adverse effect on the reported value on that portion of the
Fund's assets that are denominated in VND,

Management may froam time to time hedge the Fund's currency exposure. I hedging can be taken
on commercially reasonable terms, but il may nol always be practicable 1o enter into hedging
transactions on terms and conditions favourable to the Fund, and management is not obligated to
enter into hedging transactions.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Fund had outstanding foreign currency denominated assets
and liabdlities as follows:

22019 311272018
UsD UsD
equivalent  eguivalent

Assels

Vietnamese Dong (WMD) 2,566,545 3,123,960
Liabilities

Vietnamese Dong (*YND"™) {2,674) (1,939)

2,363,871 3122021
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
MNotes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Exchange rate fluctuations and local currency devaluation could have a material effect on the value
of the Fund's investments. As at 31 December 2019, had the VMD exchange rate strengthened by
1% with all other variables remaining constant, the increase in net assets and increase in gain for
the year would amount to approximately USD25,639 (31/12/2018: the increase in nel assets and
increase in pain for the year would amount to approximately USD31,220). A decline of 1% would
have an equal but opposite impact.

All of the Fund’s investmenis and cash and cash equivalents are held in VND, except for the cash
held by the Administrator, refer to Note 11,

(iil)  Equity price risk

The Fund is exposed to equity price risk as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, only to the extent of
imvesiments in common stocks.

As at 31 December 2019, the market value of the Fund's listed shares is USD1,658,126
(31/12/2018: USD2,057,240) (Note 12). During 2019, the difference between the highest and
lowest monthly VN Index compared to the lowest point was approximately 25% (2018: 25%). Had
the market prices of these securities increased by 25% as at 31 December 2019 (3171272018 25%)
with all other variables remaining constant, the Fund's net assets would have increased and loss for
the year would have decreased by USD414,532 (2018: the Fund's net assets and profit for the year
would have increased by USD514,.310). A decline of 25% (2018: 25%) would have an equal but
opposile impact,

10. Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets that the
Fund can access at the measurement date are obtained directly from an exchange on which the
instruments are traded. For all other financial instruments, the Fund determines fair values using
ather valuation techniques.

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements.

® Level 1: Inpuis that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments.

= Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.c. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: gquoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considened less than
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

®  Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique ineludes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable
inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments but for which
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences
between the instruments.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FP'T Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categonsed in its
entirely is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. Assessing the significance of a particular input 1o the fair
value measurement in its entirety requires judgments, considering factors specific to the asset or
liability. The determination of what constitutes “observable™ requires significant judgment by the
Fund. The Fund considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly
distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources
that are actively involved in the relevant market,

(n)  Fair value hierarchy — Financial instruments measured at fair value

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value a1 the reporting date, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy inte which the fair value measurement is categorised. The amounts
are based on the values recognised in the statement of financial position. All fair value
measurements below are recurring. The Fund did not recognise any transfers between levels of the
fair value hierarchy at the reporting date, There was no level 3 investments held during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Total
USD USD UsD

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss:

Listed shares 1,658,126 - 1,658,126
Listed bonds = B26,977 526,977
1,658,126 826,977 1,485,103
31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Total
USD USIy UsD
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss;
Listed shares 2,057,240 - 2,057,240
Listed bonds x B57.748 B57.748
2,057,240 857,748 2,914,988

(b}  Fair value hierarchy — Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term financial
assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value, because of their
short-term nature and, for the financial assets, high credit quality of counterparties.
The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and

analyses it by the level in the fair value hierarchy inte which each fair value measurement is
categorised.
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100/219



11.

EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)

Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Truost of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continwed)

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

31 December 2019

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Subscriptions receivable
Dividends receivable

Financial liabilities
Management fee payable
Redemptions pavable
Accrued expenses

31 December 2018

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Dividends receivable

Financial liabilities
Management fee payable
Accrued expenses

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank

As at 31 December 2019, included in cash and cash equivalents was USDS7,808 held in a bank

I
UsD

136,747

Level 2
UsSD

136,747
8,447
2,503

147,697

8,163
48,146
43,460

99,769

Level 2
USD

279,725
4,084

283,809

10,483
64,879

75,362

322018
UsD

279,725

account with the Administrator (31/12/2018: USD74,837).
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vieinam Balanced Fund {a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Trast)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
{Expressed in United Staies Dollars)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
31112/2019 IN122018
uUsD usn
Cost Fair value Cost Fair value
Investments in securithes
Listed equity securities 936,588 1,658,126 1,381,383 2,057,240
Listed debt securities (*) 820,827 826,977 917,318 B57.748
1,757,415 2,485,103 2,298,701 2,914,988
As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of listed debt securities include accrued interest
receivable amounting to USDI14,638 (31/1272018; USD26,308).
Details of listed equity securities at the year end were as follows;
3122019 V12018
UsD uUsD
Listed equity securities
Phu Mhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company 244 859 234,851
Refrigeration Electrical Engineering Corporation 229,531 194,451
Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank 224,394 193,986
FPT Corporation 176,445 115927
Petrovietnam Low Pressure Gas Distribution Joint Steck
Company 155,592 111,133
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 150,816 248,169
Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company 130,815 202,689
Bentre Aquaproduct Import and Export Joint Stock Company 125,389 139,801
Petrovietnam Southern Gas Joint Stock Company 100,137 106,318
Dat Xanh Group 55,187 61,525
Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam 18.923 69,151
Ha Do Joint Stock Company 25,890 -
Dabaco Group Joint Stock Company 112 110
Vingroup Joint Stock Company 35 ]
Thu Due Housing Development Corporation 1 1
Petrovietnam Technical Services Corporation E 35,109
Vietnam Construction & Impon-Export Corporation - 194,744
Petrovietnam Gas Joint Stock Corporation - 149,245

1,658,126 2,057,240

X2
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trost of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Details of investments in listed equity securities by industry at the year-end were as follows:

JAXZ019 3122018

UsSD UsD

Investments in listed equity securitics, at fair value

Food and tobacco 276,205 387,970
Banking services 263,317 263,137
il and gas related equipment and services 255,728 401,806
Textiles and apparel 244,859 234,851
Machinery, equipment and components 229,531 194,451
Software and IT services 176,445 115,927
Metals and mining 130,815 202,689
Real estate operations 81,114 61,555
Holding companics 112 110
Construction and engineering - 194,744

1,658,126 2,057,240

Details of listed debt securitics comprise at the vear-end were as follows:

31122019 INLTNE

USD UsD
Listed debt instruments
Vietnam Sovercign Bond 826,977 -
(8.90% coupon rate, maturity 30 September 2023) '
Vietnam Sovereign Bond y 857,748

(6.90% coupon rate, maturity 15 July 2009)

Redemption payable

The outstanding balance pertained to redemption payable to Mew-5 Securities Co Ltd which would
be paid in 2020,

Accrued expenses

J1A122019 JNNL2018

usD usD
Administration fee payable (Note 18) 17,750 14,500
Financial statement preparation fee payable (Mote 18) 7,000 7000
FATCA fee payable (Note 18) 4,000 4,000
Distributor fee payable (Note 18) 3,704 5,049
Audit fee payable 3,245 19,060
Agent fee payable (Mote 18) 3,088 4,208
AMLCO/WLRO fee payable (Note 18) 2,000 2,000
Custody fee payable 1,941 1,939
Interest withhalding tax payable 132 7,123

43,460 64,879
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Mew-5 FIFI Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Truost)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20019 (continued)

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Redeemable units
Movements in units for the vears ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
019 2018
Units Units
Issued and fully paid
Balance at | January 39243 49399
Issued during the vear 4,702 2,991
Redeemed during the year (13,919) (13,147)
Balance at 31 December 30,026 39,243

The Fund is not subject (o extemnally imposed capital reguirements.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, New-5 Securities Co., Ltd., acts as nomince for total outstanding
units in issue.

Subseription

Units will be available for subscription at the relevant purchase price applicable on each
subseription day.

The purchase price per unit will be the NAY per unit on the valuation day immediately preceding
the relevant subscription day plus a sales charge of up to 3.00% {(excluding any applicable
consumption tax) of such NAY per unit. The sales charge will be payable to the Distributor.

Redemption
Units may be redeemed on any redemption day at the request of the holder of such units.

The redemption price will be NAV per unit on the valuation day immediately preceding the
relevant redemption day less, as appropriate, the pro rata share of any unamortised organisational
and offering expenses atiributable to the unit being redeemed.

Unless Manager otherwise determines, if aggregate redemption requests on any redemption day
exceed 10%, or such other percentage as shall be determined by Manager of the units in issue,
Manager may elect to restrict the total number of units which may be redeemed on the relevant
redemption day to 10% (or such other percentage as shall be determined by the Manager) of the
outstanding units on such date, in which case, requests will be scaled down pro rata and the balance
will be redeemed on the next following redemption day in priority to any redemption requests
received on that date, subject always to further delay if redemptions on that date are restricted
pursuant to this power.

In addition, if the number of aggregate redemption requests in any calendar quarter exceed 25%, or
such other percentage as shall be determined by the Manager of the number of units in issue on the
first redemption day in such calendar quarter (the “quarterly limit™), the Manager may on any
redemption day in such calendar quarter elect fo restrict the fotal number of units which may be
redeemed in such calendar quarter to the guarterly limit, in which case, requests will be scaled
down pro rata and the balance will be redeemed on the next following redemption day in the next
calendar quarter in priority to any redemption requests received on subsequent dates, subject
always to further delay if redemptions on that date are restricted pursuant to this power.

24
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Yietnam Balanced Fund (a Scries Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 {continued)
(Expressed in Uniled States Dollars)

16. Withholding tax expense

Under the current system of taxation in the Cayman Islands, the Fund is exempt from paying
income taxes, However, interest income on Vietnamese Government bonds received by the Fund
is subject to withholding tax. Income that is subject to such tax is recognised gross of the taxes and
the corresponding withholding tax is recognised as withholding tax expense.

17. Other operating expenses

2019 2018

USIy UsD

AMLCOMLRO fee 3,000 2,000
Fee for financial statements preparation 7,000 7000
Government expenses 4,878 4878
FATCA fee 4,000 4,000
Bank charge 3,590 4,463
(hers 3,066 4,182
30,534 26,523

18. Significant transactions with related parties and other key contracts
(a) Related parties

(i) Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited — the Administrator

2019 2018
ush UsD
Expenses
Administration fee (including a fee for trustee services) 60,000 60,000
Fee for financial statements preparation (MNote 17) 7.000 7,000
FATCA fee (Mote 17) 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO fee (Note 17) 8,000 2,000
JV/122019 JN22018
UsD USD
Liabilities
Administration fee payahle (Mote 14) 17,750 14,500
Financial statement preparation fee payable (Mote 14) 7.000 7000
FATCA fee payable (Note 14) 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO fee payable (Mote 14) 2,000 2,000

23
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New-58 FPT Capital Trust Vielnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited is the Administrator of the Fund. The Administrator is
considered a related party due to being an affiliated entity of the Trustee. In accordance with the
Trust Deed, the Administralor is entitled to receive a monthly fee out of the assets of the Fund
based on an annualised sliding-scale rate, subject to a minimum fee of USDS,000 per month and
USD7,000 per annum for the provision of administration services and preparation of the financial
statements accordingly. Adminisiration fee is accrued on each Valuation Day and payable quarterly
In arrears.

(ii) FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company — the Manager

The Manager is considered a related party to the Fund due to its significant influence to the
decisions and operations of the Fund.

Management fee

The Manager is entitled to receive a management fee which is equal to 1.275% of the net asset
value per annum. Manapement fee will be accrued on each valuation day based on the net asset
value of the immediately preceding valuation day and is payable quarterly in arrears. Management
fee for the year ended 31 December 2019 was USD33,643 (2018: USD47,547). Management fee
payable as at 31 December 2019 was USDS, 163 (2018; USDI0,483).

Performance fee

The Manager is also entitled 1o receive a quarterly performance fee equal to 20% of the amount by
which the net asset value per unit at the end of the relevant quarter exceeds the highest of the net
asset value per unit as at the end of any of the preceding ealendar quarters, or the initial issue price
of US$100 if it is higher, multiplied by the average number of units in issue during the relevant
guarier, Performance fee for the year ended 31 December 20019 was nil (2018: nil)

(h)  Other key contracts

New-S Securities Co., Ltd. - Agent Member Company and Distributor

019 2018
UsD Usp
Expenses
Agent member company fiee 6,883 18,646
Distributor fee 8,257 22375
INz09 3112018
USD USD
Liabilities
Agent member company fee pavable (Mote 14) 3,088 4,208
Distributor fee payable (MNote 14) 3,704 5,049

The distributor fee and agent member company fee are accrued on each valuation day based on the
NAY of the immediately preceding valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears as follows:

Services Fee rates
Agency member company 0.5% NAV per annum
Distribution 0.6% NAY per annum

26
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New-3 FPT Capital Trust Vieinam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Subsequent events

Decline in fair value of investments

Since 31 December 2019, the outbreak of COVID-19 and related global responses have caused
material disruptions to businesses around the world, leading to an economic slowdown, Global and
Vietnam equity markets have experienced significant volatility and weakness. As at 29 April 2020,
the date that these financial statements were authorized for issue, the fair value of the Fund's
investments had declined significantly to the following amounts: USD1,955,063.98.

While governments and central banks have reacted with monelary interventions designed to
stabilise economic conditions, the duration and extent of the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, as
well as the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, remains unclear at this time,
These subsequent changes in the fair value of the Fund's investments are not reflected in the
financial statements as at 31 December 2019,
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®
2019 12 31

IT_- PHU NHUAN JEWELRY JSC 65,981 0.72 47,664 3.71 244,859 9.6%

2. REFRIGERATION ELECTRICAL 146,533 0.69 101,229 1.57 229,531 9.0%
ENGINEERING CORP

3. MILITARY COMMERCIAL 250,005 0.44 110,229 0.90 224,394 8.8%
JOINT STOCK BANK

4. FPT CORP 70,136 0.80 55,874 2.52 176,445 7.0%

5. PETROVIETNAM LOW 68,419 0.83 56,452 2.27 155,592 6.1%
PRESSURE GAS
DISTRIBUTION JSC

6. VIET NAM DAIRY PRODUCTS 30,000 5.45 163,541 5.03 150,816 5.9%
JSC

7. HOA PHAT GROUP JSC 129,000 0.74 95,417 1.01 130,815 5.2%

8. BENTRE AQUAPRODUCT 80,716 1.52 122,367 1.55 125,389 4.9%
IMPORT AND EXPORT JOINT
STOCK COMPANY

9. PETRO VIETNAM SOUTHERN 81,710 0.73 59,676 1.23 100,137 3.9%
GAS

10. DAT XANH GROUP 88,200 0.87 77,053 0.63 55,187 2.2%

11. BANK FOR FOREIGN TRADE 10,000 1.64 16,377 3.89 38,923 1.5%

JSC
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HA DO JSC
DABACO CORP

VINGROUP JSC

THU DUC HOUSING
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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20,000 1.53 30,597 1.29 25,891 1.0%
107 0.93 99 1.05 112 0.0%

7 1.57 11 5.00 35 0.0%

3 0.67 2 0.33 1 0.0%
1,040,817 936,588 1,658,127 65.33%
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2019 12 31
SOCIALIST REP OF
VIETNAM 8.900%
09/30/23 2023 30 8.9 15,000,000, 000 820,827.05 826,977.27 32.58%

15,000,000,000  820,827.05  826,977.27 32.58%
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2020 30

I 2,087,000.71 223,706
11 70,834.95 7,593
11 1-11 2,016,164.93 216,113
v 29,036
\ (RN 69.43 7,442
)

MaplesFS Limited

KY1-1104 309

(P.0. Box 309, Queensgate House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands)

)

)
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2020 110 507,364
11,000,000 10,945,000

11

1972 23 2012 2013
FPT JSC

2011 2012
FPT
CEO
2009 2011
FPT JSC CEO
2007 2009
FPT JSC CEO
2003 2006
FPT
2000 2003
FPT
1993 1999
FPT
2008 2010

1989 1993
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1982 20 2013
FPT
2011 2013
SBI
2010 2011
VN
2009 2010
PTI
2008 12 2009
IMC
SJC
2008 2008 12
1980 2015 SBI
2014 2015
UFJ
2011 2014
1982 12 2019 11

Utop
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2019
(Pvt)
2019
SBI
2018 2019
18
2014 2018
2012 2014
2009 2012
2005 11 2009
16
2007 12
317 (1,460,546 ) 2020
FPT
FPT
FPT IT FPT FPT FPT

FPT FPT FPT
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2018 12 31
131
KPMG KPMG
2020 18
107.19 UFJ
100 0.46074
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@
FPT
2019 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31

6  21,487,729,822 99,003 6,075,553,043 27,993

54,465,918 251 153,439,297 707

7 829,460,854 3,822 422,712,484 1,948

5.2 10,390,250,000 47,872 11,960,000,000 55,105

5.3 15,109,750,000 69,617 - -

8.1 133,929,185 617 983,855,330 4,533

9 151,081,228,535 696,092 106,572,065,217 491,020

10 116,091,360 535 40,321,646,916 185,778

11 1,010,737,657 4,657 160,293,376 739

200,213, 643,331 922,464 166,649,565, 663 767,821

12 12,665,063,975 58,353 1,857,857,977 8,560

8.2  2,593,571,639 11,950 107,336,349 495

13 366,864,148 1,690 - -

13 399,353,343 1,840 - -

16,024,853,105 73,833 1,965,194,326 9,054

14 110,000,000,000 506,814 110,000,000, 000 506,814

15,110,000 70 15,110,000 70

(639,210,000)  (2,945) (639,210, 000) (2,945)

4,060,121,244 18,707 2,052,132,076 9,455

70,752,768,982 325,986 53,256,339,261 245,373

184,188,790,206 848,631  164,684,371,337 758,767

200,213,643,331 922,464  166,649,565,663 767,821

2020 22
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)
FPT
2019 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31

2,000,000,000 9,215 1,097,088,422 5,055

1,935,703,560 8,919 1,153,090,039 5,313

1,908,224,600 8,792 1,756,370, 454 8,092

10,721,605,571 49,399 8,759,307,788 40,358

- - 888,450 4

- - (18,866,888,639) (86,927)

16,565,533,731 76,324 (6,100,143, 486) (28,106)

20  (1,569,750,000) (7.232) 4,813,900,000 22,180

o0  15,109,750,000 69,617 - -

30,105,533,731 138,708 (1,286,243, 486) (5,926)

(68,745,493) 317 (59,193,534) (273)

(5.321,422,472) (24,518) (4,766,306,461) (21,960)

16 (1,637,392,525) (7.544) (1,615,816,553) (7,445)

(7.,027,560,490) (32,379) (6,441,316,548) (29,678)

23,077,973,241 106,329 (7,727,560,034) (35,604)

(72,147,108) (332) - -

23,075,826,133 106,320 (7,727,560,034) (35,604)

17 (3,501,407,244) (16,132) - -

19,504, 418,889 89,865 (7.,727,560,034) (35,604)
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19,504, 418,889 89,865 (7.,727,560,034) (35,604)
19,504, 418,889 89,865 (7,727,560,034) (35,604)
19,504, 418,889 89,865 (7,727,560,034) (35,604)
15 1,762 8 (706) 3)
2020 22
10 28
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FPT
2019 12 31
2019
110,000,000, 000 15,110,000 (639,210,000) 2,052,132,076  53,256,339,261  164,684,371,337
506,814 70 (2,945) 9,455 245,373 758,767
- - - - 19,504,418,889  19,504,418,889
- - - - 89,865 89,865
- - - 2,007,989,168  (2,007,989,168) -
i ; - 9,252 (9,252) -
2019 12 31
110,000,000, 000 15,110,000 (639,210, 000) 4,060,121,244  70,752,768,982  184,188,790,226
506,814 70 (2,945) 18,707 325,986 848,631
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2018

110,000,000, 000 15,110,000 (639,210,000) 2,243,295,119 2,052,132,076  58,740,604,176  172,411,931,371
506,814 70 (2,945) 10,336 9,455 270,641 794,371
- - - - - (7,727,560,034)  (7,727,560,034)
) } _ , . (35,604) (35,604)
- - - (2,243,295,119) - 2,243,295,119 -
- - - (10,336) - 10,336 -

2018 12 31
110,000,000, 000 15,110,000 (639, 210,000) - 2,052,132,076  53,256,339,261  164,684,371,337
506,814 70 (2,945) - 9,455 245,373 758,767

2020 22

10 28
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FPT
2019 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
19,504,418, 889 89,865 (7,727,560,034) (35,604)
354,468,938 1,633 59,193,534 273
11,960,000, 000 55,105 (4,813,900, 000) (22,180)
(10,721,605,571) (49,399) 10,107,580, 851 46,570
21,097,282,256 97,204 (2,374,685,649) (10,941)
11,250,383,773 51,835 (100,176,159) (462)
98,973,379 456 (381,624) 0}
2,486,235,290 11,455 (150,172,607) (692)
- - (182,097,930) (839)
10,721,605,571 49,399 8,894,473,560 40,980

45,654,480,269 210,348 6,086,959,591 28,045
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FPT
2019 12 31

2019 12 31 2018 12 31

(105,500,000, 000) (486,081)  (225,800,352,000) (1,040,353)

75,696,382,238 348,764 194,176,879,778 894,651

- - 25,708,386,361 118,449

(438,695,728) (2,021) (206,186,910) (950)
(30,242,303, 490) (139,338) (6,121,272,771) (28,203)
15,412,176, 779 71,010 (34,313,180) (158)
6,075,553,043 27,993 6,109,866,223 28,151

21,487,729,822 99,003 6,075,553,043 27,993
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2020 22

10 28
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FPT
2019 12 31
1.
FPT
2007 25 18/UBCK-GP
2013 16
25/GPDC-UBCK
BIA TTC
2019 12 31 13 2018 12 31 13 10
000796/QLQ 2011 11 14
000795/QLQ 2011 11 14
001031/QLQ 2013 11 13
00079/QLQ 2009 16
00313/QLQ 2009 17
001243/QLQ 2015
001384/QLQ 2016 29
001381/QLQ 2016 16
001540/QLQ 2017
001582/QLQ 2017 29
2019 12 31
FF 100 100
66
2019 21 134/TB-UBCK
WIF 2019 26
2019 24 4470/UBCK-QLQ WIF

IFRS

127/219



2019 12 31

2019

IFRS 16

IFRS 16

IAS 17
16

2019

2018 12 31

12

23

IFRIC

12
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1ASB IFRS
2020 22
SIC 15
SIC 27
IFRS
2018 12 31
151,826,827

(151,826,827)

2019
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FPT
2019 12 31

IFRS 16 2018 12 31

4.1

VDN

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

129/219



4.6

FVTPL

4.7

4.8

4.9
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FVOCI
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4.10
IFRS 16
IAS 17 IFRIC

2019

2019
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2019

4.11

4.12

IFRS 15
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FVTPL
FVOCI
FVOCI

FVTPL

FVTPL

FVTPL

IFRS
ECL

12
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FVTPL
FVTPL

FVTPL

4.13

IAS 12

4.14
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3
4.15
2011 125/2011/77-BTC
2011 125/2011/77-BTC
10
4.16
17.5
38/2013/QHi3 2015

28/2015/ND-CP

4.17
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4.18

FPT FPT
FPT

4.19

4.20

0.4 1.25
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FPT
2019 12 31
5.1
4.12
2019 12 31
FVOCI FVTPL
- 21,487,729,822  21,487,729,822
*) - 829,460,854 829,460,854
Q) 10 - 151,071,228,535 151,071,228,535
5.2 10,390, 250,000 - 10,390,250,000
5.3 15,109, 750,000 - 15,109,750,000
*) - 126,091,360 126,091,360
25,500,000,000 173,514,510,571 199,014,510,571
FVTPL
*) - 1,125,840,234 1,125,840,234
2018 12 31
FVOCI FVTPL
- - 6,075,553,043  6,075,553,043
*) - - 422,712,484 422,712,484
*) 10 - - 146,767,620,773 146,767,620,773
5.2 - 11,960,000,000 - 11,960,000,000
Q) - - 126,091,360 126,091,360

- 11,960,000,000 153,391,977,660 165,351,977,660
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FVTPL

Q) - 266,784,916 266,784,916

™
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5.2
2019 12 31
Hoang Anh Gia Lai
Agricultural JSC ( HNG
)
2018 12 31

Hoang Anh Gia Lai
Agricultural JSC

20

5.3

2019 15
HNG 2,245,500
2,245,500
2020 28

22

2019 12 31
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747,500 25,500,000,000 10,390,250,000

747,500 25,500,000,000 11,960,000,000

12 31

2019 12 31 2018 12 31

15,109,750,000 -

747,500 1,495,000

72,500,000,000

2020 20
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
2,387,729,822 2,367,529,755
19,100,000, 000 3,708,023,288
21,487,729,822 6,075,553,043
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
152,727 128,287,500
822,133,127 286,413,891
7,175,000 8,011,093
829,308,127 294,424,984
829,460,854 422,712,484
2,190,115,876 1,783,367,506
(1,360, 655,022) (1,360, 655,022)
829,460,854 422,712,484
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
1,492,439 95,768
129,436,746 980,759,562
3,000,000 3,000,000
133,929,185 983,855,330
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
45,499,302 42,982,500
56,153,638 64,353,849
2,491,918,699 -

17.1

2,593,571,639 107,336,349
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
151,071,228,535 106,562,065,217
10,000,000 10,000,000
151,081,228,535 106,572,065,217
10.
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
- 40,205,555,556
116,091,360 116,091,360
116,091,360 40,321,646,916
11.
2019
309,395,510 197,190,000 - 506,585,510
- 75,900,000 1,129,013,219 1,204,913,219
2019 12
31 309,395,510 273,090,000 1,129,013,219 1,711,498,729
2019
154,422,134 191,870,000 - 346,292,134
62,678,967 9,536,666 282,253,305 354,468,938
2019 12
31 217,101,101 201,406,666 282,253,305 700,761,072
2019 12
31 92,294,409 71,683,334 846,759,914 1,010,737,657
2018
103,208,600 197,190,000 - 300,398,600

142/219



2018
31

2018

2018
31

2018
31

12.

™

13.

12

12

12

EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Hoang Anh Gia Lai

206,186,910 - - 206,186,910
309,395,510 197,190,000 - 506,585,510
103,208,600 183,890,000 - 287,098,600
51,213,534 7,980,000 - 59,193,534
154,422,134 191,870,000 - 346,292,134
154,973,376 5,320,000 - 160,293,376
IFRS 16
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
@) 11,333,333,333 1,333,333,333
205,890,408 257,739,728
11,539,223,741 1,591,073,061
1,125,840,234 184,284,916
- 82,500,000
1,125,840,234 266,784,916
12,665,063,975 1,857,857,977
5.2
International Agricultural Joint Stock Company
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
366,864,148 -

399,353,343
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766,217,491 -
2019 12 31
2019 12
31
434,942,836 68,078,688 366,864,148
434,942,838 35,589,495 399,353,343

869,885,674 103,668,183 766,217,491
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FPT
2019 12 31
14.
110,000,000,000 1 10,000 11,000,000
12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
SBI Ven Holdings Pte Ltd 53,900,000, 000 5,390,000 4%  53,900,000,000 5,390,000 49%
FPT Corporation 27,500,000,000 2,750,000 25%  27,500,000,000 2,750,000 25%
550,000,000 55,000 0.5% 550,000,000 55,000 0.5%
28,050,000,000 2,805,000 25.5%  28,050,000,000 2,805,000 255
110,000, 000,000 11,000,000 100%  110,000,000,000 11,000,000 100%

SBI Ven Holdings Pte Ltd FPT Corporation
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FPT
2019 12 31
15.
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
19,504,418,889 (7,727,560,034)
/ 19,504,418,889 (7,727,560,034)
10,945,000 10,945,000
/ 1,782 (706)
16.
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
449,868,129 504,532,224
197,359,337 191,410,714
55,530,201 165,550,000
934,634,858 754,323,615
1,637,392,525 1,615,816,553
17.
cIT 2013
19 CIT  32/2013/QH13 CIT 20
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
/ 23,005,826,133 (7,727,560,034)
575,472,786 i}
/ 23,581,298,919 (7,727,560,034)
114,005,322 88,639,657
23,695,304,241 (7,638,920,377)
(6,979,096, 667) -
16,716,207,574 i

CIT

20 3,343,241,515
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CIT 158,165,729 -

CIT 3,501,407,244 -

CIT 2019 12 31
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FPT
2019 12 31

17.

2016 6,150,843,793 (6,150,843,793) - - 2021
2018 828,252,874  (828,252,874) - - 2023

6,979,096,667 (6,979,096,667) - -

2018 12,626,674,606 (4,696,577,711) - 7,930,096,895 2023
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FPT
2019 12 31

18.

2019 12 31 2018 12 31

FPT Telecom
JsC 20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT Online
Services JSC 20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT Investment
Co Ltd. 474,821,917 510,000,000
FF Investment
Co Ltd 1,000,104 -

2019 12 31
2019 12 31
FPT Telecom JSC 20,000,000 6,000,000,000
FPT Online Services JSC 20,000,000 1,850,000,000
FPT Investment Co Ltd. - 64,275,051,776
FPT JSC 960,655,022 -
FF Investment Co Ltd 100,614 482,093,693
2018 12 31
FPT Telecom JSC 20,000,000 6,000,000,000
FPT Online Services JSC 20,000,000 1,850,000,000
FPT Investment Co Ltd. - 84,275,053,776
FPT JSC 960,655,022 -

2019 12 31

149/219
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851,177,619 752,715,110
1,810,746,294 1,636,594,710
2,661,923,913 2,389,309,820

19.
19.1

2019 12 31

2019 12 31

2019 12 31 10,390,250,000 2018 12 31
11,960,000,000 5.3

19.2
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30 90

IFRS
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FPT
2019 12 31

19.2.

2019 12 31

2018 12 31

2019 12 31 2018 12 31
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0%
822,133,127

12

30%

50%

70% 100%
- 1,360,655,022 2,182,788,149

0%
286,413,891

30%

50%

70% 100%
- 1,360,655,022 1,647,068,913
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FPT
2019 12 31
19.3.
30
180 360
30
2019 12 31
12
2019 12 31
179,261,641 187,602,507 399,353,343 -
1,125,840,234 - - ,
1,305,101,875 187,602,507 399,353,343 -
2018 12 31
266,784,916 - . }
266,784,916 - _ _
20.
2019 12 31

10,390,250,000 - - 10,390,250,000
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5.3 - 15,109,750,000 - 15,109,750,000
10,390,250,000  15,109,750,000 - 25,500,000,000
2018 12 31
11,960,000,000 - - 11,960,000,000
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
11,960,000, 000 7,146,100, 000
/ (1,569,750,000) 4,813,900,000
10,390,250, 000 11,960,000,000
21.
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
184,188,790,226 164,684,371,337
(21,487,729,822) (6,075,553,043)
162,701,060,404 158,608,818, 294
184,188,790, 226 164,684,371,337
184,188,790, 226 164,684,371,337

0.88

0.96

154/219



22.

5.3 2019
Agricultural Joint Stock Company
1,495,000

2020
2019 12 31

23.

2020 22

15

2,245,500

20
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Hoang Anh Gia Lai International
747,500
72,500,000,000



FPT Fund Managemenl Jeint Stock Company and its subsidiary

EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 December 2019

156/219

Mobs 11 December 2018 3 Decamber 2018
VHD WD
Cash and cash equivalants 5] 1 457,720,022 E.075.552,042
Prapaymants 54,485,918 153,439,297
Trade and cther receivales 7 629,460,054 425712484
Finencial assets al falr value through profit and loss 6.2 10,280,250,000 11,860,000,000
Darivative financial instrumenis 5.3 15,108,750,000 -
Current {ex Bzsets B 133,929,135 B0 BES 330
Othar currant assals a 151,081, 228,535 106, 572 085 17
Cithar non-gurrant aesats 10 116,091 360 40,221 646 816
Proparty. plank snd aquipman 11 1,010,737 B5T 160,263,378
Total assets 200,213.643,331 166,645,565 653
Liabilities
Trade and other panyables 12 12 668,083,878 1,857 857 877
Current tax liabilitias a2 2,503,571 839 107,335,348
Currant barrawings 12 380,864,148
Mor-ourmsnd barrawings 13 309,353,143 -
Tetal Liabllities 16,024,853, 105 1,985, 194,328
Equity
Share cagital 14 110,000,000,000 110,000, 000,000
Share presiiim 15,110,000 15,110,000
Treasury shares (630,210,000 (638,210,000
Salulory ressnes 4060, 121,244 2052,132.078
Retained eamings 70,752,766,962 53,255, 336,261
Tatal aquity 184,188 790,226 164 684,371,337
- equity and liabilites BO0,213 643,331 155 540, 568 BEY
T
]
{fl £l a
Vu Haal Anh
Accounting Manager
The nales sal out oA pages fram 1010 28 farm an inbegral pan of thess cansalidated financial siatements
]
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FET Fund Management Joint Stock Company and its subsidiary

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2019

Hate Year enced ‘Year andad
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
WND WND
It oimi
Fund maragament lees 2,004, 000,000 1.097,088,422
Partfalio managamen lees 1,835,703, 880 1.153,080,038
Fees from advisory senices 1,008, 224, 600 1.758,370.454
Intanasl incame fram deposks 10,71, 608,571 6,758,307, 788
Ol income - BER, 450
Loss on disposel of aguily securities at fair valua through other
comprabsriive insome - {18,666 688 630)
16,565,533, 731 (6,900,143 455)
Ghanges in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profil and leas 20 [1,568,750,0000 4, 813,500,000
Chnng“. in Fair valug of derfvative financial instruments 20 15,109, TS50, 000 -
Tatal incomedlass) 30,105,533, 7H (1,206,243, 486)
Dperating expenses ¢
Depreciation and amarlizatian (68,745, 453) {58,193 534) 1
Employess benefis expanss (6,321, 422,473) 4,786,308 451)
Other supanses 18 (\Ewiensds) 000 () EISSGE) !
Tolal operaling expenses . . (7,027, 560, 480) [6,%41,316, 548) i
Operating profit{loss) 23,077,973, (7,727 B80,004) |
&
Financs costs (72,047,408 . 7
Profieloss) etore tax 23,008,826,133 7,727 560,034) 2
Canporate incomea tax for the year 7 (3,501,407 244)
Dafared corporabe incoms Lax axpanse = =
Mat profit{koss) for the year from confinuing operations 19,504 418,389 (7,727 B60,004)
Other comprehensive intome - -
Todal m_nggmm Income 19,504,418, 889 (7.727 560,034)
Profitloss) for the period attributabis to;
Man-controlling inberast - .
Cwners of the parent 19,504,418, 885 (7,727 580,034
19,504,418, 888 (7.727,550,034)
Earnings per share
Basiz eamings per share [VND/share) 15 1,782 {T08)
-

o

Ll B
CILLAN LY G
oY, DAL TU Y

I
'-:I:\_.‘. : = _,-‘
b \.-:\ W n ¥ Y Nguyst Wu Hoal Anh
\E_I]"Ef Z e Officer Accounting Manager

J o

Tha nates 882 sut an pages fram 10 ba 28 form an Inbegral par of these consoidaled financal slalements
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FPT Fund Managemant Joint Stock Company and its subsidiary

Consolidated statement of cash flows

(indirect method)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

‘Wear ended fear ended
3 December 2016 31 Decamber 2013
W NID WND
Cash Aows from operating activities
Profiiiloss) far the year 18,504, 418 880 {7,727 560,004)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amorisatian 354 468 5308 58,163 534
Changes m fair value of fnancsl mebuments 44,960,000, 000 (4,813,500,000)
Nat profiiloss) from investing activities {10,721,605,5T1) 10,107 580,851
Operating profit (loes) before adjustments to working capital 21,007 282,266 (2,374,685 648)
Changes in sccaunts recalabie 11,250,383,773 {100,176,158)
Changes in prapaymesnis 98,973,379 (381,624)
Changes in accoungs payabls 2,486,235 290 {150,172 807}
Infterest paid - {182,007 530)
Infeamst recaived 19,721,605.5™ 8,854,471, 660 T‘F‘
Cash generated from operating acllvitios 45,654 480,200 6,086,859,581 }
Cash flows from imvesting activities :
Payments for deposil al banks with temms exceeding 3 months {108, 504, 600,000 (225,800, 352,000} uJ
Racaipts fof depasit al banks wilh lerns exceeding 3 months T5,606,192.218 154, 176,876,778 ¢
Proceads from sale of imvesiments in cther antilies - 25, 708,386, 361 ;i"{
Aaquisition af aquipmant, fudures and fitings 430,505.728) (206,188 010} A
Met cash Hlows wsed in irmaesting aclivities (30,242, 303,480 (6121, 272,771}
Net increase [decrease] in cash and cash equivalents 15412,176,779 (34,313,180 )
Cash and cash equivalants at beginning of the pericd 6,075,653,043 6,109, 566,223
Cash and cash equivalonts &t end of thie period 21,407,728 822 8,075,553, 043

5

¢

“u Hoai Anh
Accounting Manager

The notes set ouf on pages from 10 lo 28 form an inlegral pat af these consolidalad hrancial sialements
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FPT Fund Management Jaint Stock Company and Iks subsidiany

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1. Mature of operations

FPT Fund Management Jaint Siock Cormpany (‘the Parent Company”) is a joint sleck company incorporated in
Viatnam under the establishment and operation license Mo, 1B/UBCK-GP dated 25 July 2007 issised by the Stale
Sepurities Commission, with the latest amended License No. Z5/GPDC-UBCK dated 16 August 2013 on change of
the Company's representative.

The principal activities of the Company are to camy out Investment aclivifies in Vielnam, manage entrustad
invastmant funds and investmant portolios of entrusted clients and provide investment advisony activities.

The Company's hesd office is located at 9th Flaar, TTC Building, Lot B1A, Light and Small Scale Indutrial Area,
Dy Tan Streat, Dich Vong Hau Ward, Cau Giay District, Hanai,

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 13 employees (31 December 2018: 13 employaes), in which, 10
employess have been cerified fund maragement pracice by the Stale Securities Commission as follows:

Mama Cartificate no Diale

M=z Vu Hoal Anh oO0TEEaL 14 Movember 2011
Mz Nguyen Thi Thu Nguyet 0o0TasoOLD 14 Movembar 2011
Mr. Mpo Thanh Hal Q01031 13 Kovember 2013
Ba Luu Nguyen Chi Nhan LaoFenaLO 16 Febrzary 2009
Ms Mguyen Thai Ha Da31amaLa 17 June 2008

Ms Pham Bich Mgoc 00N 24300L0 o7 Aprll 2015

M= La Thi Xwan Anh 001 38402 25 February 2016
Rir. Mguyen Huy Hoang 031381000 16 February 2018
Bis Mguyen Thi Thu Huang 00 540010 08 March 2017

s Mguyen To Uyen 001 5820GLE 20 June 2017

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had one subsidiary as follows:
Confirisgled  Woling

Subsidiary Agdraszs Main sctivilies capkal  righls
FF Investmant Mo, Lane 88, DichVeng  Carrying out investment activities in Vietnam, 100%  100%
Limitesd Lisbilty Company  Hau Strest, Cau Glay marger and acquisition advisory activities and

District, Hanol colpiale governance advisary aclivilies.

The Group managed the Vistnam Value Investment Fund ("VVIF") established under Notice No. 134/TB-UBCK
issued by the State Securifies Comimission on 29 March 2018. On 26 Septarmber 2019, the Group completed
Equidation procedures of VWIF pursuant o Official Letter Mo, 447TIWUBCK-QLD dated 24 July 2015 issusd by the
State Securities Commission.

2.  Statement of compliance with IFRS and going concern assumption

The Group’s slalulory consclidaled financial statemaents are prepared in sccordance with Vietnamesa Acceunting
Standards and presented separataly.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepered for intsmal use purpase of
the Managament, in accordance with Infernational Financal Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the
Intemational Accounting Standards Board (1A58). They have been pregered under the assumption that the Group
operales on a going concern basis.
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FPT Fund Managament Jaint Stock Company and its subsidiary

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decamber 2018 (including comparatives) wara
approved and authorised for issue by the Management on 22 April 2020 (see MNote 23).

a New Standards adopted as at 1 January 2019

The Group has adopted the new accounting pronouncaments which have become effective this year, and are as
Foillerees:

IFRS 16 'Leases”

IFRS 15 ‘Leases’ replaces 1A5 17 ‘Leases’ along with three Interpratations (IFRIC 4 'Determining whedher an
Arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC 15 'Operaling Leases-Incentives’ and 515 27 'Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involing the Legal Form of a Leasa’). Tha new Standard has bean applied using the modified
refrospactive approach, with the cumulative effect of adopling IFRS 16 being recognised in eguity as an adjustment
1o the opening balance of retained eamings for the current period. Prior periode hawve not bean restaled.

On transition, the Groug had anly operating lease contracts with remaining lease terms of less than 12 months,
Accordingly, the Group has applied the oplional exemplions 10 nol recognise right-ol-use asseds but fo account for
the lease expense on a straighi line basis over the remaining lease tarm,

The following is a reconciliation of 1otal operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 1o the lease Rabities
recognised at 1 January 2019:

WD
Total oparating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 20498 151,828,827
Racogntion exem plions:
+  Laasas with remaining leass term of iess than 12 manths (151,626,827
Other pronouncements

Othar accounting pronouncemants which have becoma effective from 1 January 2018 and have therefore been
adopted do not have a significant impact on the Group's financlal results or pesition.

4. Significant accounting policies

The Consalidated Financial Stalemants have bean prepared in accordancs with the accounting policies adopted in
the Group's most recent annual financial staterments for the yvear ended 31 Decamber 2018, excent for the effects of
applying IFRS 16,

4.1 Basis of preparation

The Group's consclicated financlal statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and wunder the historical cost
convenltion except for the financial assets at fair value through profil or loss measured al fair value ("FVYTPL") in the
consclidated statement of financlal position, Mometary amounts are expressed in Vielnameasa Dong (WMD),

4.2 Bazis of consolidation

The consclidated financial siaiements ere prepared on the basis of separate financlal statements of the Paremt
company and separale financial statements of subsidiary as describad in Note 1.

All transaclions and balances betwean Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gaims
and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group assel sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asget is algo lested for impairment from a Group perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial staterments of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary fo ensure consistency with
the aceounting palicies adopted by the Graup.

Profit or loss and ather comprehenshve income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of duding the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up 1o the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

The Group attributes total comprehengive income of loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the
non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.
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FPT Fund Managemant Joint Stock Cempany and 18 subsidiary

4.3 Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combanabions. The conskderatkon transfarred by
the Group to obtain control of & subsidiary is calculated 25 the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets
transferred, liabilitias incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset
or liabilily arising from a contingent consideration amangement. Acquisition cosls are expensed as incurred.

Assels acquired and liabllities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values, |

4.4 Fereign cumency translation
Functional and presentation currency P

The consofidated fnancal statements are presented in WND, which is also the funcional currency of the parent .
COMmparny. E
Foreign currency transactions and balances €
Foreign currency transactions are transkated indo the functional curancy of the respective Group entity, using the "
exchange rales prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spof exchange rate). Forsign exchange gains and losses

rasulting from tha settiement of such transactions and from the remeasuremeant of monetary items denominated in }I
fareign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. =

Non-maonetary ilems are not refranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (ranslated using the
exchange rales at the transacton dafa), except for non-monetary ilams measured at fair value which are translated
using the exchange rales at the date when fair value was defermined.

4.5 Revenue
Revenue includes feea from fund management, invesiment portfolio management and fees from other services.

To determing whether to recognise revenus, the Group follows a §-step process:
Identifying the contract with a cusiomer

Identifying the parformance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price fo the parfarmance obligations
Recognising revenue whenlas perdormance obligation(s) are satisfied

b ol o o

Revenue is recognised either at a point in fime or over time, when (or ag) the Group salisfies performance
ohligations by transferring the promised services to its customers.

4.5 Interest income and Interest expenses
Interast income and expense are recognised in profil and loss using the effeciive interest method.

The affactive ineras! rate is the rate thal exactly discounts the estimated fulure cash payments and receipis thraugh
the expected life of the financial asset or liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial assel or the amorised
cost of the financial liakility. The gross cammying amount of a financial asset is its amortised cost before adjusting for
any loss allowance.

Financial assets nat credi-impained on iniffal recogmilian

I the financial asset is not credit-impaired, then interest income s calculated by applving the effective interest rale to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. When calculating the effective interest rate the Group estimates future cash
flows considaring all contractual tarms of tha aseeat bul not axpactad credit boss.

I the financial asset has bacome credil-impaired subsequent to inltial recognition, than interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate 1o the amontised cost of the asset. If the asset is no longer credit- impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reveris to the gross basis.

Financial assels credil-impared o inflial recognition

Interast income iz calculated by applying a eredit-adjusted affective interast rale to Ihe amortised cosl of the asset.
The credit-adjusted effective inlerest rale s calcudated using estimated future cash flows inchuding expecied credil
loss, The calculation of interest income doas not revert to the gross basis even if the credit of the asset improves.
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Financial Nabllities
Interest expenses are calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amartisad cost of the liabllity. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates fulure cash flows considering all contractual terms of the

liability.

The calculation of the effective inlerest rate includes all fees and points paid or received that are an integral pari of
the effecthve interest rate, Trangaction costs include Incremental costs that are directly attributable o the Booquisition
of issue of a financial asset or kability.

Intarest revenue on financial assels not measured at FYTPL and other financa costs presanied in profit or loss
included interesi on financial assets and financial kabilities measured at amorlised cost and debt investments =
measurad at FVOCI calculatad on an affactive interest basis.

4.7 Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred. Expenditure for LF
warranties is recognised when tha Group Incurs an obligation, which is typically whean the related goods are sold.

4.8 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly atifbutable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
durireg the periad of time that is necessary 1o complete and prepare the asset for ils intended use or sale. Ciher
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs,

i Y

4.9 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment, lixtures and fittings

Equipment, fixtures and fitings are Initially recognised at acquisition cost, including any costs directly attributable to
bringing the assels to the location and condition necessary for them lo be capable of operating in the manner
intended by the Group’s management, Equipment, fitures and fittings are subsequantty measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,

Deprecialion is recegnised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual valua of aguipment,
fidures and fittings. The following useful lives are applied:

Equipment 3-5yeaars
Fidures and fitings 2 -3 years

Gains or losses anising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in profil or loss within other income
or clher expenses.

410 Leases

As described in Mate 3, the Group has applied IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective approach and therafore
comparative information has nol been restated. This means comparatve information is sill reporied under 1AS 17
and IFRIC 4.

Accounting policy applicable from 1 January 2019

The Group as a lesses

For any new contracls enterad into on or after 4 January 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or
containg a kease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, thal conveys the right to use an asse! (the
underlying assef) for a period of fime in excchanga for coneideration’. To apply this definfion the Group assesses
wheiher lhe contract meets threa key evaluations which ara whether:

+  the contract contains an identiied assel. which is either explicitly identified in the contract or imiplicithy
specified by being identified al the time the asset is made available to the Group;

+  the Group has the fght to abtaln substantally all ef the economic benefits frem use of the dentified asset
throughout the pericd of use, considenng ils rghts within the defined scope of the confract; and

= the Group has the righl to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company and s subsidiary

The Group assess whether it has the right to direct “how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the
penod of use.

Maasurement and recognition of leases a5 a lesses

At lease commencerment date, (e Group recognises a right-of-use assat and a leasa liability on he balance sheet,
The right-of-use asset s measured &t cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease Rability, any
initial direct cosis incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantis and remave the assel at the end of
{he lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commenocement dade (net of any incenfivas

received),

The Group depreciales the night-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date 1o the 1
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group alsc assesses
the right-of-use assel for impairmeant when such ndcators exist.

i
Al tha commancement date, the Group measures the lease liability al the present value of the laase paymenls 3
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the kease if that rate is readily availabbe or the 5
Group's incremental bormowing rate. g
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease lability are made up of fixed payments (including in %

subsiance fixed), variable payments based on an index of rate, amounts expactad to be payabls undaer a residusl
value guarantee and payments ansing from cgtions reasonably cerain to be exercised.

Subsequent ta initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It s re-
meagurad o reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments,

Yihen the lease ability is re-measured, the corresponding adjusimenl is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use assat is already reduced 1o zero. |

The Group has elected to account for shorl-term leases and leases of low-value assels using the praciical |
axpadients. Instead of recogrising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a siraight-line basis over the leasea term. [

On the statement of financial position, rght-of-use assats have been included in property, plant and equipment
{eicepd those meeting the definition of imestment property) and lease llabilities have been included in trada and
other payablas.

Accounting policy applicable before 1 January 2019

The Group as & lesses - Operafing leases

WWhese the Group is a lessee, payments on operating lease agreements are racognised as an expenss on a siraight-
iine basis over the lease term, Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred,

411 Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the kowest levels for which there are largely
independant cash Inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets ars tested individually for impairment
and some are tested al cash-genaraling unit level.

Cash-generaling units (determined by the Group's managesment as equivalent to its operating segments) are fested
for impaimment st least annually.

All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carmying amount may nol be recoverable.

An impairrment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assef's {or cash-generating unit's) carmying ameound
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. To delermine
(he value-in-use, management estimates expectad future cash flows fram each cash-generating unit and determines a
suitable discount rate in onrder fo calculate the prasent value of those cash flows, The data used for impairment testing
procedures are directly linked io the Group's latest approved budged, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of
future re-organtsations and asset enhancements. Discound factors are determined individually for each cash-
generating unit and refiect current marke! assessments of the time value of money and asset-specific risk factors.
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Impairmant losses for cash-genarating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated tothat cash-
genaerating unit. Any remaining impairment koss is charged pro rata to fhe other assets in the cash-generating umnit.
With the exceplon of goodwill, all assels ere subsequently reassessed for indications that an impaimment loss
previously recognised may no longer exisl. An impainment 1053 is reversed il the assel's or cash-generaling unit’s
recovarable amount exceeds its carmying amount.

4.12 Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilitizs are recognised when the Group bacomeas a party o the contractisl
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contraciual rights to the cash flows from the financial agset expire, or
whian the financal assed and substantially all the rigks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is L]
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Excapt for those frade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured ai the
fransaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially rmeasured at fair value adjusted fer
fransaction coets (whara applicable).

Financial assels, other than those designated and effeclive as hedging instruments, are classified into the following
categories:

= amorfised cosl;

= fair value through prefit or less (FVTPL);

# fair value through other comprehensive incomea (FVOCH),

In the periods presented the corporation does not have any financial assets calegorised as FWCIL

The classification is determined by both:
+ the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset;
+* the contractual cash flow charactaristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relafing to financial assels that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
cosls, finance income or other financial items, except for impainment of trade receivablas which is presented within
other expanses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assels
Financial azsels are measured al amorfised cost
Financial assels are measured af amontised cost if the asssts meet the following conditions {and are not designated

as FVTPL): |
+ they are hedd within a business model whose abjeclive is to hold the financial assels and collect its contractual |
cash flows

&« the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely paymenis of principal and
interest an the principal amount sutstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amorlised cost using the effective interest method, Discounting is
omitted whera the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and most cthar

receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

Financial assets af fair value through profil or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets that are held within a different buginess model ather than hold lo collect’ or “hold 1o collec! and sell’
are cateqorised a fair value through profit and loss. Further, imespective of business model financial ass=ts whose
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interesi are accounted for at FWTPL. All cerivative
financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designaied and effective as hedging instruments, for
which the hedpe accounting requirements apply (see balow).
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Asseds in this category are measured al fair value with gains or logses recognised in profit or loss, The fair values of
financial assats in this category are detarmined by referenca to active marked transactions or using a valuation
technigue whare no active market axists.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS o's impairment requirements use mone forward-looking information 1o recognise expected credit losses — the
‘expected credit loss (ECL) madal’.

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead the
Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses,
including past events, current condifions, reasonable and supporiable forecasts that affect the expected collectability
aof tha future cash flows of the instrumeant.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distineticn is made between: i

+  financial instruments that have not deleriorated significanily in credit quality since initial recogniticn or that have £
lewr credit risk ('Stage 1'); and

+ financial instrumenis that have deteriorated significantly in credil quality since Inilial recognition and whose
cradit risk is not low ('Stags 27.

T L

‘Etage 3" would cover inancial assels thal have objective evidence of impairmenl al the reparting date.

"12-manth expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are
recognised for the second catagory.

Measurement of the expected cradit losses is determined by a probabiity-weighted estimate of cradit losses over the
expected e of the financial instrument.

Trade and ofher receivables and confract assels

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables as well as confract
assels and recards tha loss allowance as lfetime expected credit losses. Thesa are the expected shorifalls in
contractual cash fiows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. in
calculating, the Group uses its historical experience, exernal indicators and forward-looking infarmation 1o calculale
the expected credit losses using a provision matrix,

The Group assess impairment of trade recaivables on a collective basis as they possass shared credit risk
characteristics they have been grouped based on the days past dua.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group's financial Eabilties include borrowings, trade and other payables.

Financiad Babdities are mitially measured at fair valee, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless
the Group designated a financial liabiiity at fair valee through profit or loss.

Subseguently financial liabilities are measured at amorlised cost using the eflective interast method, sxcept for
derivatives and financial liabilifies designated at FWTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss,

All Interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reporied in profit or loss
are included wilhin finance oosts or finance income.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are accounted for at fair valua through profit and loss (FVTPL) except for dervatives
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships, which require & specific accounting treatment.
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To qualify for hadge accounlng, the hedging relalionship mus! meel all of the Tollowing requinemwnls:

= there is an ecomomic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging insirument

+  he eflect of credit risk does nol dominate the value changes that result frem thal economic relationship

= the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resuliing from the quantity of the hedged Rem
{hal the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging insirument that the enlity actually uses jo
hedge that quantity of hedged item.

For the reparing periods under review, the Group has designaled certain forward equity securilies coniracls as
hedging instrumants in fair value hedge relalionships. These arrangamants have baen emerad into to mitigata risks
of changes in fair value arising from market price fluctuation.

All derivative financial mstruments used for hedge accounting are recognised initially at fair value and reported
subsaquanily at fair valua in the stalemenl of finandial position. Changes in the fair value of derivalives dasignated as
hedging instruments in fair value hedges are recognisad immediately in profit or loss.

4.13 Income taxes

Tax expense recognisad in profit or loss comprisas the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognised in other
comprehansiva income of directly in aquity.

Calculation of curment tax iz based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or subsiantively enacied by the
end of the reporting period. Defermed income taxes are calculated using the balance shest labslity method.

Defarred tax assets are recognised 1o the axtent that it is probable that the underying tax loss or deductitla
temperary difference will be ulilised against fulure taxable income. This is assessed based on the Group's forecast
af future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expensas and spacific limits on the use of
any unused tax lass of credit.

Deferred tax liahilities are generally recognisad in full, although 1AS 12 ‘Income Taxes® spacifies limited examptions.
As a resull of these exemplions the Group does nol recognise deferred fax on temporary differences relating io
goadwill, o to its investments in subsidiares,

4.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash an hand and cash in banks as well as shor-term highly liquid investments
and bank deposits with matunty kerms of ot more than 3 months.

448  Equity

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classifiod as equity. Incremental costs directly atiributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
deducted from the inftial measurement of the ardinary shares.

Share premium
On receipt of capital from shareholders, the difference between the issue price and the par value of the shares is
cradited to share premium acoount in equity.

Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as equity is purchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly
atiribuiable costs, net of any tax effecis, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares zre
classified as treasury shares and ara presented as a deduction from 1otal equity. Whean repurchased shares ara
reissued, the difference betwean the reissue price and the purchase price is recorded in share premium.

Statutory reserves

The Group has established and maintained a number of reserves in accordance with local regulations. These
reserves are for specific purposas, and allocated from net profit after tax at prescribed rates as follows:
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* Reserve to supplement share capital: 5% of profit after tax reported in the consolidated financial statemants
which are prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System
for Enterprises, Circular No. 125/2011/TT-BTC dated 5 Seplember 2011 issued by the Ministry of Finance on
promulgation of the accounling system applicable to fund management companies and the relevant statutory
rexuiramants applicable to financial reporting, and does nol exceed tha Group's share capital,

*  Financial reserve: 5% of remaining profit after tax reported in the consolidated financial statements which are
prepared in accordance wilh Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for
Enterprises, Circular Mo. 1252011/TT-BTC daled 5 Seplember 2011 issued by the Ministry of Finance on
promulgation of the accounting system applicable to fund management companies and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting, and does not exceed 10% of the Group’s share capital,

416 Post-employment benefits
The Group provides post-employment benefits through various defined contribution plans.

Post-employment bancfils J
Post-amployment benefils are paid o retired employees of the Group by the Vietnam Social Insurance. The Group is N
required to contribute lo these post-amployment benefits by paying social insurance premium fo the Social

Insurance Agency &t the rate of 17.5% of an employes’s basic salary on a monthly basis, The Group has no further
ohligation to fund the-post employment benefits of its employees. |

Unemployment benelifs

In accordance with Vietnamese regulations on labour code and the latest Decres No, 282015/MNE-CP with effective
date from 1 January 2015 providing guidance on implementation of Law on Employment No, 38201 3/0H13 on
unemployment insurance, the Group is obliged 1o pay unempéoyment insurance at 1% of ils salary fund used for
payment of unemployment insurance for insurance paricipants and deduct 1% of salary of each employes to
simultaneously pay 1o the Unemployment Insurance Fund.

447 Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share

Basic earnings par share is calculated by dividing the profil attibutable to the ordinary shareholders which alraady
subtracted ihe bonus and welfare fund by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year,

4.18 Related partics
Related companies include its parent company and itz ultimate parent company and its subsidiaries.

Parties are considared 1o be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, 1o contral the other party of
exercise significant influence over the olher parly in making financial and operating decisions. Parfies are also
considered to be related f they are subject to commen contrel or common significant influence.

Related parties includa any entities and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interast in the voting power of
FPT Capital that gives them control or significant influence over FPT Capital. Management and the members of the
Board of Directors of FPT Capital and its subsidiaries and closa members of the family of these indiiduals and
companias associated with these individuals, also constilute related parties. In considering each possible related
party relationship, attenfion is direcled 1o the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.

419 Provigions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Provisions for legal dispules, onerous contracts or ofher claims are recognised when the Group has a presant legal
or constructive obligation as a result of 8 past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will ba

requirad from the Group and amounts can be esfimated reliably. The timing or amount of the outfiow may still be
uncertain.

Restruciuring provisions are recognised only if a defailed formal plan for the restructuring exists and management

has either communicated the plan's main features to those affected or started implementation. Previsions are not
recognised for fulure aparating lossas,
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Provisions are measured at the estimated expendiiure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most
redlable evidence availahle at the reporting date, including the risks and uncerainties assodaled with the present
abligaticn. Where Ihere are a number of similar obligations, the (ikelinood that an outflow will be reguired in
seftlement is determinad by considardng the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted 1o their
present values, where the time value of money is materal,

Any reimbursement that the Group is virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect 1o the obligation is
recognised as a separate assel. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the relaled provision.

Ma [ability iz recognised if an outflow of economic resources as a resull of present obligations s not probadle.

4.20 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty

When preparing the financial staterments, managemeant makes a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions
pboat the recognilion and measurement of assets, kabilities, income and expenses.

S L]

Significant management judgement

Deterrninalian of controls over investees

hanagement applies its judgement to datermine whether the condrol indicators indicate thal the Group controls an
investment fund,

st ke

The Group act as the fund manager for a number of investment funds. Determining whether the Group conircls such =
an investment fund usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregale economic interests of the Group in the fund |
{comprising any carmied inferests and expectad managemant fees) and the investors' rights o remove the fund

manager. For all funds managed by the Group, the invesbors are able to vote by simple majority to remove the Group

ag the fund manager without cause, and the Group's aggregate econamic interest is in each case the management

fea (from 0.4% fo 1.25% of entrusted principal). As a result, the Group has concluded that it acts as an agent for the

inwesiors in all cases, and therefore has not consolidated thase funds. [

Assumptions and estimation uncertainty
Informaticn aboul esfimates and assumptions thal may have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilifias, incoma and expeanses is provided below. Aclual results may be substantially
different.
- Determination of fair value and impairment of financal instrurments
Recognition and measurement of provisions: Key assumptions about Bkelihood and magnitude of an
outllow of resources

5. Financial instruments
54 Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities

HNote 4.12 provides a description of each calegory of financial assets and financial liabifties and the related
accounting policies. The carrying amounts of financlal assets and financial liabilities in each calegory are as follows:

31 December 2019 Mode T FVTPL Amorised cost Tastal
WHD WND VND VND

Financlal assatls
Cash and cash equivalents 8 - - 21 487,720,822 2 487 TIO 82
Trade and cther racetvatles (%) T - 20,460 B54 829,450,854
Dieposils with berms over 3 montha 4 8,10 - 151079228515  181,071,228,535
Financial assots ai fair value through peofit of less 5.2 10,380,250,000 = 10,3%0,250,000
Derivative financial instrumants 8.3 15,108,750,000 - 45,109,750,000
Othver financial assats (7) 126,081,360 126,081,360
Tolal assets . 25500,000,000 173514510671 199,014,510,571

Other Babiities  Olher liabdities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL  {amedised cast) Total
WD YND VND
Trade and othar payablas (%) . 1125840234 1,125,840,234
19
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31 December 2018 Mote  FUTOCI FVTPL Amonlisad cost Tatal
WD VD VNI VHND
Flmancial assets
Cash and cash equivalants [ - €,075,653,043 6,075,553,042
Trade and cifer recaivabies (*) 7 . 422 712,484 422,712,484
Deposils with lerms over 3 months (%) 9,10 = 146 TETA20,773  146,767,620,T72
Financial assats al fair value through profitor less 5.2 11,860,000.000 11,860,000,000
Other inancial assels (7 . 126,081,380 126,091,360
Todal assats 11,860,000,000 153,381,877 ,650 165,351,977 650
Other liahililies Oaher liabilities.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL {armortisad cost) Tatal 1
YD WND VHND :
Trade and olher payables (%) - 288 TEd D18 %TM.I'IB y
]
] The Management of the Group has estimated the fair value of these balances approximately lo their t
carmying amounis dua to the sho-lerm nature of these financial assets and financial liabilities. i
5.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss !
Cuantity Cost Fair value 5
31 December 2018 Share VWD VND
Listed shares = Hoang Anh Gia Lal Agricuftural JBC (HNGT) 747,500 25,500,000,000 10,390, 250,000
31 December 2018
Listed shares - Hoang Anh Gia Lai Agricultural JSC T4T 500 26,500,000,000 1].5&0.000.0@

Fair valses of listed shares were measured at the closing share price as quoted in Hochiminh Stock Exchange on 31
Decamber as prasented in Mote 20.

5.3 Derivative financial instruments

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
WND WHND

Faorward equity securities conlract = fair valua hedge 18,108, 7560,000 -

In accordance with the securities purchase commitment agreement batween the Parent Company (the Transteror)
and Ms Kieu Ngoc Hoa (“the Transferee™ dated 15 August 2019, the key forward confract information is as follows:

+  Fiancial assets: 2 245 800 shares of HWG, of which 747,500 shares are hald by the Parent Company and
1,435 000 shares are included in entrusting invesimenis managed by the Gompany,

+  Forward price: YMDT2,500,000,000 for 2,245,500 shares;

«  Transaction date: 28 February 2020

Asg presanted in Mofs 22 — Subsequenl events, the Transferes has completed the repurchase fransaction of the ;
aforementicned shares and fully paid the committed amount as at 20 March 2020. |

The diffarance between forward price and fair value of listed shares as 8t 31 December 2018 was recognised as fair
value of forward equity securities contract in the statement of financial position and the statemsent of profit and |oss.

6. Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2019 31 Decernber 2018
VHD VHD

Cash at bank 2,387,729,822 2,367,629,755
Cash squivalents 19,100,000,000 3,708,023, 288
21.487,729,822 6,075,553.043

20
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31 Decamber 20189 31 Decamber 2018
VHD WND
Non-financial instrnements
Frapayments 1o suppliers 162,727 128,267,500
Financial instruments
Trade recaivables = nel E22133127 286 413,601
Othier recabvables — nat TA7E,000 B,011,083
 B29.308127 294,424,884
B20,460,854 422 712484
Trade and other receivables
Gross amount 2,190.115,876 1,783,367 508
Prowision for doubtul deibls (1,360,655,022) 11,350,655 022)
BZ9,460,854 422,712 454
8. Taxes

81 Taxes and amounts receivable fram the State budget

31 December 2018

31 December 2018

VHD WHD

Peraonal income lax 1,402,430 95,768
Corporaie ineome tax 120,436,746 680, 755,562
Other tax _ 3,000,000 3,000,000
133,929,185 BA3 855,330

a.2 Taxes and amounts payable to State budget

31 December 2018

31 Decamber 2018

VHD WD

Value added lax 45,455,302 42 982 500
Persanal incarme fax 56,153,638 64,383 Bd
Cofparata Meome tax (Nata 17.1) 2,491,918,699 -
2,583, 571,628 107,336,249

9. Other current assets

3 December 2018

31 Decamber 2018

VND WMND
Tarmn deposits with tarm to maturity of more than 3 months to 1 year 151,071,228,538 108,562,085,21F
Others 10,000,000 10,000,000
151,081,228 635 106,572 065,217

10. Other non-current assets
31 Decembar 2019 M December 2018
VHD WD
Temm deposits with term fo matuwity of more than one year - 40,205 555,556
e 118,001,360 _ 118,091,360
116,081,360 40,321, 845,916
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11.  Property, plant and equipment

Equipment  Fixtures and fitings  Right-ofuse assals Tatal
VD WHD WD VND
Gross carrying amount
Balance al 1 January 2019 309,306,510 187,190,000 - 5o, SR8, 510
Additions - right of use assats - 5,600,000 1.128013.218 1.204,913,218
Balance alt 31 December 2019 308, 265,510 273,080,000 1128013218 1,711,488,720
Amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2019 154 422 134 181,670,000 . 346,292,134
Deprecalion for the year &2 678 BEY 8,536,666 282.253,305 354 468,936
Balance &t 31 December 2019 1701101 201 408 666 282 253,305 Tie0, TE1,072 i
Carrylng amaunis 1
Balance at 31 December 2013 52,204 400 71,683,334 B4 759,914 1,040,737 657 |
1
Gross carrying amount
Balanoe at 1 Jamsary 2018 103,208,600 167,160,000 - 300,398,600 F
Piditions 206,166,910 e . 206,166,910 t
Balance at 31 December 2018 305,305 510 187, 150,000 - 508,585,510
Amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2018 103,208,600 183,600,000 . 28T,098,600
Depreciation for the year 51,213,534 T.980,000 - 59,193,534
Balance at 31 December 2018 154,422 134 181,670,000 - 346,282,134
Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2018 184,873,376 5,320,000 - 160,283,376

Righi-of-use assets represent operaling lease righls recognised during the period in accordance with IFRS 16.

12. Trade and other payables

31 December 2019 31 Decamber 2018
WND WND

Hon-financial liabilities
Advance from customar () 11,333,333,333 1,333,333.333
Unearmed revanug 205,880,408 257,739,728
11,538,223,741 1,581.073,061

Financial liabllities

Other payables 1,126,840,234 184 284,916
Payables ta suppliers = 82,500,000
1,126,840,234 266,784,818
12,665,063 975 1 857 B5T 977

(* The balance is consisted of purchase advances of Hoang Anh Gia Lai International Agriculture Joint Stock
Company's listed securities according to the securities transfer agreement as described in Note 5.2

22
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13. Borrowings
Lease liabilties are presented in the statement of financial position within borrowings es follows:

3 Docomber 2019 3 December 2018

WHD VND

Laasa Rabilties — current 365,864,148 -

Leazsa labilties — non current 399,353,343 -
TE6, 217,481

The Group has leases for an office. Fulure minkmum lease payments al 31 December 2018 were as follows:
31 Decarmber 2019

Tatal Inberest expenses Principal

(] VHND VHD
Dising 1 year 434,042,838 68,074,688 368,064,140 1
From 2 to 5§ years 434,942 B30 35,509,495 399 353,343 r
BE6D,BBS,674 103,668,183 766,217,491 i |

14. Share capital

The Parent Company's registered share capital is VMO 10,000,000,000 divided into 11,000,000 ordinary shares at
par value of VND10,000 per share. The ordinary shanes are entitled 1o receive dividend and equal voling rlights at the

shareholders’ meelings.

Az at 31 December, delails of tha Parant Company's key shareholdars are as follows:

31 December 2019

31 Decombar 2018

Amounis  Number of Shareholding Amounts  Number of Sharshalding

VND Zhares Interast {%) WHD Shares  Interest (%)

SBI Ven Holdings Pta Lid 53,800,000,000 5,380,000 49%  53,900,000,000 5390000 40%
FPT Comparation 27,500,000,000 2,750,000 26%  27,500,000,000 2750000 25%
Treasury shanas 550,000,000 55,000 0.5% 550,000,000 55,000 0.5%
Cither shareholders 28,050,000,000 2,805,000 255%  28,050,000000 2805000 25.5%
110,000,000,000 11,000,000 100% 110,000,000,000 11,000,000 100%

SBI Ven Holding Pte Lid is incorporated in Singapore and FPT Corporation ks incorporated in Vietnam,

15. Basic earnings per share

Year ended Year ended

3 December 2HS 31 Decemnber 2018

Met profit for the year from continuing cperations (VNI 19,504,418,889 (7. 727,560,004)

Profitfloss) attribulable to ordinary shareholders (WHD} 19.504,418,009 (T.727,560,004)

Waightad avarage number of ordinary shares (Shares) 10,845,000 10,945,000

Blasic earnings per shane (WNDIshar) 1,782 {FDE}
16. Other expenses

YWear ended ‘Year ended

M Decombar 2019 31 Decambar 2018

VND WND

Office rental 449,568,129 504,532,224

Travelling & accommadation 197,358 337 191,410,714

Professional sarvices 55,530,201 165,550,000

Oither expenses 034,634,858 754,323 615

1,637,392,525 1,615,616,553
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17. Income tax

The Group has obligation 1o pay the corporate Income tax ("CIT7) on the taxable income at the standard tax rate.
Under the Amended CIT Lew Mo. 32/2013/QH13 dated 18 June 2013, the standard CIT rate is 20%.

The reconciliation between the accounting profit bafore tax and the taable profit i as shown below:

Year ended Yoar ended
M December 2015 ¥ December 2018
VHD WD
Mol accounting profitloss) before tax 23,005,826,133 (7,727 560,034)
Temporary difference 576472 TBE -
el accounting profitloss) before tax 23,5681,298,918 (7,727 560,034)
Adiusiment:
Non-deductile exponses nag0ssz2  B8s3ssT
Assessable income 23,685,304,241 (7638920377 3
Tax loss carvied forward from previous years (6,978,006 667) - 3
Taxable incoms 16,716,207,574 -
Current CIT expense (20%) 3,343,241,515 - i
Current CIT expense of price yaars . 158,165,728
Taotal CIT axpensa 3,601,407 244

The calculation of CIT is subjec to the review and approval of the local tax autherities. Deferred taxes have nel been
recorded in the balance shoet as the Company hag no significant temporary differences as at 31 December 2018,

Tax Joss of the parant company:

Year Status of Tax losses carried Year ol

incurred tax review Tazable loss Utilised Expired Torward expiration
YHD YND WHD VHD

2016 Finalized 6,180,843,783  (8,150,843,783) - - 2021

201E Finakeed B28,252 874 (A28, 252 874) - - 2023

B,979,006 687 (8,978,006 667) . .

Tax loss of subsician:

Year Status af Tax losses carried Year of

Incurrod tax raview Tazable loss Utilised Expired forward exphration
VD VND WHND YHD

2018 Citstanding 12,628 674,808 {4,686 5677.711) - 7,530,066 455 203

Unrecognised defermed tax assels

Defarred tax assels have not been recognised in respect of the sforesaid tax foes caried forward becausa it is not
probable that future texable profit will be available against which the Group can ulilise the benafits therefrom.

18. Related party transactions and balances
During the period, the following significant transactions with refated parlies were recorded!

Year andad Year anded

Related parties Relationship  Mature 31 December 2019 21 Decamber 2018
VND VHD

FPT Telecom JSC Relried party  Incoms fram entrusimeant fees 20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT Cnline Services J5C Related paty  Income from enbrusimen feses 20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT Invasiment Co Lid Relaled paty  Income from entrusiment fees 474 821 897 510,000,000
FF Investment Co Ltd Related paty  Income from enbresiment feas 1,000,104 -
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A5 at 31 December 2018 balances with related parties as follows:
Rocaivables from  Recalpt of entrusted

Related Parties Relationship entrustment fees Investmonts 5
VHD VHD [

31 December 2019 '

FET Telecom J5G Ralatad party 20,000,000 &,000,000,000 [

FET Online Servicas JSC  Related party 20,000,000 1,650,000,000 {

FPT Irnvesément Co Lid Ralated party - 64,276,061,776

FPT JSC Investor 960,655,022 .

FF Investment Go Lid Subsidiary o 100614 482,093,893

3 Dacember 2018

FPT Telecom JSC Related party 20,000,000 5,000,000, 00
FPT Cnling Senvices JSC Fatated party 20,000,000 1 850, 000, Oee
FET Investmant Co Lid Related pamty L B4.275 053 TTE .|
FFT sz Invesior 050,855,023 - "

Directors' remuneration:

Yaar ended Year ended y
31 Decombar 2019 31 Decamber 2018 ¥
YHD WHD 4
General Direcior
Salary and bonus 851,177,819 752,715,110
Management and supervision board
Salary 1,810, 748,284 1,636,594,710
2,661923.813 2,389,308,820

19,  Financial instrument risk

Tha Group is axposed ta variows risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group's financial assets and liabilities
by calegory are summarised in Mate 5. The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's rick management ks coordinated at its headquarters, in close cooperation with the board of
managemsnd, and focuses on actively securing tha Group's short 1o medium-term cash flows by minimising lhe
axposiife to valatile financial markets.

The Group does not aclively engage in the frading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does il wrile
options. The mos! significant financial risks lo which the Group is exposed are described belov.

18.1 Markel risk

The Group is expased 1o markel risk through its use of finandal instruments and specifically to currency risk, interast
rale risk and cerlain olher price risks, which result from both its aperating and investing activities. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market sk exposures within acceptabla parameters, while
oplimising the returm.

Foreign currency sensilivity
Currency risk s the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due lo changes in foralgn exchange
raleg. Most of the Company's transactions are carmed out in Vietnamese dong.

As al 31 December 20119, the Group doas not prasent a sensilivity analysis of exchange rate fluctluations due o
immaterial impacts,

Interest rate sensitivily
Interest rate risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument changes due to changes in
markel interest rate.
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As al 31 December 2018, the Group did nof present the analysis of impact of foreign currency fluciuation to the
operating results and owner's equity as tha impact was insignificant.

Equity price sensitivity

The Group's exposure 1o equity securities price risk arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial posifion either as at fair value through other comprehensive income or at fair
value through profil or loss. Managemant of the Greup monitors equity securities in is investment portfolio based on
markel indices, Material securifies within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell
decisions are approved by the Group's managemenl.

The Group attempl ta limit its fisks through @ number of strategies. The Group practice porifolio diversification, and
have adopted a range of appropriate Investment restriclions and policies. For high-risk investments, the Group
entered into fair-value hedging agreements such as forward contract 1o sell equity instruments at a fixed price in
future. This pelicy ks to reduce risk of market price fluchution.

As at 31 December 2018, the market value of the Group's lisied equity securities was VND10,390,250,000 (31
December 201 8; VND11,960,000,000). The Group has entered into a forward contract fo sell the investment at i
purchase price hedge the risk of price Auctuation as disclosad in Mote 5.3. Y

18.2  Credit risk

Credil risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group. The Group s exposed to cradit
risk from financial assets including cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade and other receivables.

i

Credit risk management
The credit risk is managed on a group basis based on the Group's credit risk management policies and procedures.

Cash and banks
The credit rigk in respect of cash balances held with banks and deposits with banks are managed via diversification
of bank deposits, and are only with major reputable financial institutions.

Receivables

The Group confinuously monitors the credit guality of customers based on a credit rating scorecard. Where
availzbla, extarnal credit ratings andior reports on customers are oblained and used. Tha group's pelicy is to deal
only with cradil worthy counlerparties. The credit terms range Between 20 and 90 days. The credit terms for
customers as negatialed with customers ane subject to an inlernal approval process which considars (he credit rating
scorecard. The ongoing credit risk is managed through regular review of ageing analysis, together with credit limits
par cuslamer,

Service cusiomers are required fo pay the annual amount of the service uplront, mitigating the credit risk.

Security
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various industries and gecgraphical areas. The Group
deas not hold any security on the trade receivables balance.

In addition, the Group dees nol hold collateral relating to other financial assets (eg derivalive assets, cash and cash
equivalents held with banks).

Trade receivables
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit insses. for afl trada recaivables
2s these items do nel have a significant financing componeant.

In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they
possess shared credil risk characterislics. They hawe been grouped hased on the days past dus and also according
1o the geographical location of customers.

The expected loss rates are based on the comespending historical cradit losses experiencad during that period. The

historical loss rates are adjusted 1o reflect curreni and forward-looking infermalion on macrosconomic fackors
affecting the ability of the customers lo sefle the receivables.
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On the above basis the expectad credil |loss for trade receivables as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018

was determined as follows:

Trade receivable days past due
3 December 2019 Wilhin & months 6 1o 12 months 1toZyears 2to3Iyears Over 3 years Total
Expected credit loss rabe 0% 0% = 0% 100%
Groes carmying valws 822,133,127 = = = 1,360655022 2,182.788.143
3 December 2016
Expected credit loss rabe 0% 30 50% T0% 100% Total
Gross earmying valus 286,413,881 - - - 1380685022  1.647088913

19.3  Liquidity risk

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term
financial liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day business, Liquidiy needs are monitored in vanious fimea
bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well a5 on the basis of a rolling A0-day projection. Long-term

liquicity nesads for a 180-day and a 360-day lookout penod are identified monthly. 3
The Group mainiains cash and marketable securiles (o meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day per ods. :I
Ag at 31 Decamber 2013, the Company's liabilities have santractual maturities which are summarised below:
Within & months G to 12 manths 1to § years Owar 5 years
VND VHND VND VND
31 Decamber 2018
Rarrowings and firanss lease Labililies 178,261,641 187,602,507 399,353,343 -
Othar shor-tarm financial abilitins 1,128, 840,234 . - .
1,308,101 876 187,602,507 399,353,343 -

31 December 2016
Other shen-tarm financial Esbilities 266,784,518 . . -
266, TB4, 516 - - -

20.  Fair value measurement

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Financial #ssets measured at fair value in the special consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
thres lewels of a fair value hierarchy, The three levels are defined based on the observability of significant npuls 1o
the measurement, as follows:

= Level 1; quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

+ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are cbservable for the asset or liability,
either direclly or indirectly

#  Level 3; unchservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The table below analyses financial instrumants measured at fair value at the reporting date, by the level in the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is calegorised:

Leval 1 Laval 2 Lewvel 3 Total
WHND VND VHND VMD

3 December 2019
Financial ass=ts at fair value through profit or loss 10,390,250,000 - - 10,390, 250,000
Derivative financial instruments (Mabs 5.3) = 15,108,750,000 - 15,108, 760,000
10,390,250,000  15,108,750,000 - 25,500,000,000

3 December 2018
Financsl assaks of fair value through perall or loes 11.860,000.000 - - 11,950,000,000

i
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FPT Fund Management Jaint Stock Company and its subsidiary

Changes in fair vabue of financigl assets at fair valee through profi and lose are as follows:

Year anded Wear ended

1 Decembar 2018 M Decembar 2018

VML VRO

Opsenirg bakara 14,850,000, 000 7,146,100,000
{Lees)gain from fair valus ravaluation recagnised duing the year {1,668,750,000] 4,813.6500,000
Clasing balance 100, 390,250,000 11,550,000,000

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The Group has no non-financial assets and liabiliies which are meassured at fair valua.

21. Capital management policies and procedures

The Group's capital managemenl objeclives ane;
+  fo ensure the Group's abllity 1o conlinue as a going concem
+ o provide an adequate refum to shareholdars by pricing products and services in a way that refiects the
level of risk invohwed n providing those services.

The Group monitors capilal on the basks of the camying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalents as
presented in the statement of financial position. Management assesses (he Group's capilal reguinaments in onder o
maintain &n afficen overall financing structurs while avaiding excessive leverage. -
The amounts managed a5 capital by the Group lor the reporting periods under raview are summarised as follows:

31 December 2088 31 Desember 2018

WHD WHD
Tolal eguity 184,188,700.228 154,584 371 337
Cash and cash equivalants (21,487,720, 823} 8,075,553, 043)
Capital 162,701 060,404 156,608,818,204
Talal equily 184,180,700,238 164,884,371,357
Overall financing _ 184,180,790,238 1564 684 571 357
‘Capital-to-overall financing ratic 0.ig 0.95

22. Post-reporting dale events

In scoordancs with the securities purchase commitment agreemant bebwesen the Parent Company (the Transferor)
and Ms Kieu Ngos Haa (*the Traneferes”) dated 18 August 2019, Bhw Transieree agreed o repurchase 2,245, 500
shares of Hoang Anh Gla Lal Intemational Agricufture Joint Stock Company, of which 747,500 shares are held by
the Parent Company and 1,485 000 shares are included in entrusting investment which the Company held as
deseribed in Mota 20, with a transfer value of VDT 2,500,000,000. The Transferes has compleled the repurchase
transaction of the aforementioned shares and fully paid the committed amount as at 20 March 2020,

Ewcept for the above evend, no significant events have oocurred since the reporting date which would impact an the

financial posfiion of the Group as disclosed in the conscidated balance shaet as at 31 December 2018 or on e
consalidated resull of lis operation and its consclidated cash flows for the year then ended.

23.  Authorisation of consclidated financial statements

)}/4-;-'_5"". & The pansclidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Managemen! and autharised for issus
o
/ =j/€h~wﬁa lalyam J

ol GO Pm'pnl L

| n.',;.uw LY Oury

L
[}
W’
‘\E{| Thu Mguyet Wis Haal Anh
Executive Officer Accounting Manager

28
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1. MaplesFS Limited

2020 50,000 5,360

2020
2020

2. Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch

1
2020 (Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City

Branch) 50,800,000 5,445,252

3 (Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited)

2020 50,000 5,360
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2020 10

(MaplesFS Limited)

Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch

(Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited)
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KPMG

P.O. Box 493

SIX Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY 1-1106
Cayman Islands

Telephone +1 345 949 4800
Fax +1345949 7164
Internet www.kpmg.ky

Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee

Opinion

We have audited the financia statements of New-S FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (the “Fund”), a series
trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financia statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financia position of the
Fund as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “ Auditors Responsihilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section
of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsihilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Satements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting

unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.
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Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Satements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professiona judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

| Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

| Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal
control.

| Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

I Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a
going concern.

| Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72

E6 Pham Hung Road, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
+84 (24) 3946 1600/ kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Shareholders
FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Quadlified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “FPT Capita”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 6 to 44.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the consolidated
financial position of FPT Capita as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financia performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As described in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of equity securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income amounting to VND44,575,275,000 as a 31 December 2017 was measured using
unobservable inputs which were the average reference prices obtained from three securities companies. We were unable
to satisfy ourselves as to whether such average price is representative of the fair value. As a result, we were unable to
determine whether any adjustments to the reported amounts of equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, and net changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended and loss on disposal of
equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018. This matter caused us to modify our opinion on FPT
Capita’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. Our opinion for the current year's
consolidated financial statements is also modified because of possible effects of this matter on the current year's
financial statementsincluding comparative information.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Satements section of our report. We are independent of FPT Capital in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financia statements in Vietnam, and we have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide abasis for our qualified opinion.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financia statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing FPT Capita’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate FPT Capital or to cease operations, or has no redlistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing FPT Capital’s financia reporting process.
Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as awhole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
materia if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

8§ ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of interna control.

8 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of FPT Capital’s internal
control.

8 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

§ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’'s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on FPT Capital’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, then
we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financia
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause FPT
Capital to cease to continue as a going concern.

§ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
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8 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within FPT Capital to express an opinion on the consolidated financia statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

On behdf of KPMG Limited
Vietnam
Audit report No. 15-02-00266-19-3

Wang Toon Kim
Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 3 June 2019
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Grant Thornton Cayman Islands
2nd floor, Century Yard

Cricket Square, 171 Elgin Avenue
George Town, PO Box 1044
Grand Cayman, KY 1-1102
Cayman Islands

T: +1 345 949 8588

F: +1 345949 7325

E: info@ky.gt.com
www.grantthornton.ky
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT TO THE TRUSTEE OF

NEW-S FPT CAPITAL TRUST VIETNAM BALANCED FUND

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of New-S FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Baanced Fund (a series trust of New-S
FPT Capital Trust) (the “Fund”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
related statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes,

comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financia statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Fund as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Internationa Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRS”).

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Trustee with the sole purpose of regulatory
filing of the financial statements with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “ Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements”™ section
of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter — Comparative Figures

The Fund's financia statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018, included for comparison purposes, have

been audited by other auditors whose report dated 15 May 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financia Statements
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Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic aternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund' s financia reporting process.

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

| Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

| Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control.

| Evauate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

I Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. |If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financia statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue

as agoing concern.
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| Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financia statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

George Town,
Grand Cayman
29 April 2020
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Independent Auditors Report

on the consolidated financia statements of
FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company and its subsidiary
for the year ended 31 December 2019

NO. 19-11-009-B
To The Shareholders of FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financia statements of FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes prepared on 22 April 2020 as disclosed on pages 6 to 28.

In our opinion, except for impacts of the matters as described in the Basis for auditors qualified opinion paragraph, the
accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all materia respects, of the consolidated
financial position of FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019, and of its
financial performance, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRS").

Basisfor auditors qualified opinion

As stated in the prior year auditors opinion report, the Company’s predecessor auditors expressed a qualified opinion on
the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018 due
to impacts of the revaluation method of equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income opening
balance which was realized in the year ended 31 December 2018. Due to impact of this matter to the presentation of the
current year consolidated financia statements, we do not express our opinion on the comparative figures of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
related comparation financial information as presented in the Company’s consolidated financia statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the auditor' s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code’), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matters
Comparative figures

The Group's consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018, included for comparison purpose, have been
audited by other auditors whose report dated 3 June 2019 expressed a qualified opinion on the impacts, if any, of the
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revaluation method of opening balance equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31

December 2017 and the Group’s statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Restriction of uses

These consolidated financial statements are prepared for and only for the internal use purposes of the Group’s
Management as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no redlistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financia statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

« |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’
sinternal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.
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* Evauate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

GRANT THORNTON (VIETNAM) LIMITED

Nguyen Tuan Nam
Deputy General Director
CPA Vietnam Registration No. 0808-2018-068-1

Hanoi, Vietnam
22 April 2020
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